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Etion has been reorganised into four businesses and 
horizontal market segments to meet the requirements of 

our strategy. Our businesses and functions are arranged 
by capabilities along an integrated value chain that 

draws on each business’ capabilities to deliver seamless 
end-to-end solutions to customers.

Etion Create (Create) designs, develops and manufactures 
a wide range of advanced electronic and digital 

technologies for internal and external customers. 
It develops customised and generic electronic subsystems 

as well as products for clients in the aerospace and defence 
and cyber security industries and in several other sectors 

including mining, industrial and transportation.

Etion Digitise (Digitise) specialises in digital systems that 
help improve the safety and productivity of client operations 

in sectors that include transport and logistics, mining and 
energy. It provides digital safety and environmental 

management systems that incorporate IoT devices and 
custom software to provide condition monitoring systems 

aimed at helping clients derive value from efficient  
asset management. 

Etion Connect (Connect) offers connectivity and 
communications products, solutions and services for fibre 

wireless deployments, data and digital radio 
communications networks, network monitoring, 

power-related infrastructure solutions, and services  
data centre environments.

Etion Secure (Secure) incorporating the newly acquired 
LAWtrust (effective 1 June 2018), provides cyber security 

solutions that focus on establishing positive identity, ensuring 
authenticity and protecting privacy. Solutions include SSL 

certificates and certificate management systems, FIDO 
certified strong authentication, digital signature and approval 
solutions, managed public key infrastructure (PKI), biometric 

enrolment and matching systems and insider threat 
prevention with the eDNA platform. 
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We Produce Human Centric 
Digital Technology Solutions 
That Advance The Living And 
Working Environments Of 
Humanity
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

The directors are required, in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for 
the content and integrity of the annual consolidated financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is 
their responsibility to ensure that the annual consolidated financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at the 
end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual 
consolidated financial statements.

The annual consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 
consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group and 
place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the 
Board of Directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 
procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control 
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual consolidated financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2020 and, in light of this review and the current 
financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has, or has, access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s annual consolidated financial 
statements. The annual consolidated financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external auditors and their report is 
presented on pages 5 to 9.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of the 
shareholders and Board of Directors. The Board of Directors believes that all representations made to the independent auditors during 
their audit are valid and appropriate.

The annual consolidated financial statements set out on pages 3 to 61, which have been prepared on the going concern basis,  
were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2019 and were signed on their behalf by:

T Daka      EC De Kock
Group Chief Executive Officer   Group Chief Financial Officer

Page 1

Certificate from the Company Secretary
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, in accordance with the Companies Act, 2008 (as amended) (“the Act”), Etion Limited 
has lodged with the Registrar all returns as are required of a public company in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Act, for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 and, furthermore, that all such returns and notices are to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct 
and up to date.

Melinda Gous
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd

Pretoria

Wednesday, 31 July 2019
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Directors’ report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

The directors present the annual report, which forms part of the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

1. Nature of business
Etion Limited is a diversified digital technology provider. Our purpose is to advance humanity by improving the safety, 
productivity, connectivity and cyber security of our customers. The Group creates digital solutions and products, digitalises 
business operations and processes; connects people, entities, systems and things; and secures identities, information and 
transactions in the cyber arena.

The Group creates value by designing and manufacturing custom-designed and generic solutions; by acting as a distributor 
and a systems integrator of technology-based products; by operating an internationally recognised Trust Centre; and 
developing software solutions for the global market.

2. Review of activities
The Group operates principally in South Africa, and the operations in the Group mainly comprise the following:

The Group develops, produces, distributes and integrates niche world class technology-driven engineering solutions for harsh 
environments within our market segments. Refer to note 37 for further information on the market segments of the Group.

The operating results and state of affairs of the Group are fully set out in the attached financial statements and do not in our 
opinion require any further comment. Net loss of the Group was R2.730 million (2018: R33.424 million), after taxation of 
R3.359 million (2018: R8.929 million).

3. Share capital
The Company's authorised share capital remained unchanged at 1 725 490 496 shares (2018: unchanged).

Refer to note 15 of the annual consolidated financial statements for detail of the movement in the issued share capital.

4. Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders during the year (2018: none).

5. Borrowing limitations
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to 
borrow money, as they consider appropriate.

6. Material events after year end
Nonhlanhla Mjoli-Mncube resigned as Chairperson of the Board on 31 May 2019 due to personal reasons. Dr Snowy Khoza has 
been appointed as Chairperson with effect from 1 June 2019.

Due to the breach of one of the Nedbank loan covenants, discussions have been initiated with the bank to renegotiate the 
covenant and remedy this breach. Refer to Note 16.

As a proactive step, management has initiated the strategic review of the safety and productivity solutions business with the 
objective of optimising its operations .This has been necessitated by the long procurement cycles and prevailing conditions 
within its target markets.

Unrelated to the breach, Nedbank has advised that it will be reducing the revolving credit facility and limiting overdraft 
facilities across the Group to 33% of the debtor balance, excluding intercompany balances and long outstanding debts greater 
than 120 days.

With the exception of the preceding matters, there are no other events which are material to the financial affairs of the Group.

7. Directors' interest in stated capital and contracts
At 31 March 2019, the directors in aggregate were directly or indirectly beneficially interested in 189 743 079 ordinary shares 
(2018: 193 481 040), equivalent to 33.62% (2018: 41.97%) of the issued ordinary shares of Etion Limited. The directors' interest in 
the ordinary issued share capital of the company as at 31 March 2019 is set out in the following table:

	 Number	of	shares	held	beneficially

Directors
2019 

Direct
2019 

Indirect
2018 

Direct
2018

 Indirect

Executive
T Daka 45 062 745 102 674 375 45 062 745 102 674 375
CF Maherry 16 686 356 – – –
AR van der Watt (resigned 20 June 2018) – – – 21 814 752
Non-executive
NS Mjoli-Mncube 220 877 4 000 000 220 877 4 000 000
CP Bester – 19 708 291 – 19 708 291
R Willis – 1 390 435 – –

61 969 978 127 773 101 45 283 622 148 197 418
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There has been no change in the directors’ interest in the ordinary issued share capital between the end of the financial year 
and the date of approval of the annual consolidated financial statements.

8. Directors
The directors of the Company during the period and at the date of this report are as follows:

Directors Designation Changes

T Daka Executive
AR van der Watt Executive Resigned, 20 June 2018
EC De Kock Executive
CF Maherry Executive Appointed, 20 June 2018
NS Mjoli-Mncube Non-executive Resigned, 31 May 2019
SP Mzimela Non-executive Resigned, 18 October 2018
CP Bester Non-executive
N Medupe Non-executive Resigned, 25 January 2019
Dr SJ Khoza Non-executive
M Janse van Rensburg Non-executive Appointed, 12 November 2018
R Willis Non-executive Appointed, 13 November 2018

 Directors' remuneration
Details of directors' remuneration are set out in note 31 to the annual consolidated financial statements.

 Directors' interests in contracts
No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into in the current financial year (2018: none).

9. Secretary
The Group’s designated Company Secretary is Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd, situated at Unit 7, Block C, 
Southdowns Office Park, Karee Street, Irene, Pretoria.

10. Liquidity and solvency
The directors have performed the required liquidity and solvency tests required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

11. Going concern
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s budget and cash flow forecasts for the year ending March 2020, which include certain 
assumptions about the cash flows from planned and unplanned projects and raising additional funding when required.  
On this basis and in light of the Group’s current financial position, the directors are satisfied that the Group will continue to 
operate for the foreseeable future and have therefore adopted the going concern basis in preparing these annual consolidated 
financial statements.

12. Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. was appointed as auditors for the Company during the past financial year. At the Annual General 
Meeting, the shareholders will be requested to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the independent external auditors 
of the Company and to confirm Ms P Pope as the designated lead audit partner for the 2020 financial year.

13. Special resolutions
The following special resolutions were passed on 27 September 2018 at the Annual General Meeting:
• Remuneration of non-executive directors
• Remuneration for ad hoc Board committees
• Intercompany financial assistance
• Financial assistance for subscription/acquisition of shares in the Company or a related or inter-related company
• Authority to repurchase shares
• Approval of Etion Long Term Share Incentive Scheme

14. Company financial statements
The Separate Annual financial statements of the Company, Etion Limited, are available on the Company's website.

Directors’ report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Independent auditors’ report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

To the Shareholders of Etion Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Etion 
Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 31 March 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited
Etion Limited’s consolidated financial statements set out on pages 10 to 61 comprise:
• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019;
• the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
• the accounting policies; and
• the notes to the annual consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for 
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits in South Africa.

The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) respectively.

Our audit approach
Overview

Overall group materiality
•  Overall group materiality: R2 306 200, which represents 5% of a consolidated three year 

average profit or loss before tax.

Group audit scope
•  We performed full scope audits on Etion Limited and its significant components. Independent 

reviews were performed on those components that were deemed inconsequential.

Key audit matters
•  Impact of IFRS 9 – Expected Credit Losses on trade receivables
•  Valuation of intangible assets from the acquisition of Law Trusted Third Party Services  

(Pty) Ltd (LAWtrust)

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated 
financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of 
significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. 
As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Materiality

Key audit  
matters

Group scoping
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Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group 
materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality R2 306 200

How we determined it 5% of a consolidated three year average profit or loss before tax

Rationale for the materiality 
benchmark applied

A benchmark of profit or loss before tax is considered the most appropriate benchmark as it is 
the benchmark against which the performance of the Group is most commonly measured by 
users, and is a generally accepted benchmark. Due to the volatility of profits/losses for the last 
few years, it was considered more appropriate to use a three year average profit or loss before 
tax as a benchmark. We chose 5%, which is consistent with quantitative materiality thresholds 
used for profit-orientated companies in this sector.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates.

The group financial statements are a consolidation of eight companies of which four were considered financially significant based on 
their contribution to consolidated revenue. We have performed full scope audits on these companies due to their financial 
significance. Independent reviews were performed on the four that were deemed to be financially inconsequential. All of these 
companies were audited/independently reviewed by the group engagement team.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impact of IFRS 9 – Expected Credit Losses on trade receivables
The Group adopted IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) for the 
first time in the 2019 reporting period (Previously, IAS 39 – Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement was applied). As a 
result, the accounting policies applicable to financial instruments 
have been amended accordingly.

IFRS 9 requires the recognition of expected credit losses (ECL) on 
all financial assets and off balance sheet exposures within the 
scope of its impairment model.

Upon transition to IFRS 9, a decrease in retained earnings of R3.822 
million was recognised. Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements, 
Changes in significant accounting policies, B – IFRS 9 Financial 
instruments. At 31 March 2019 this ECL was increased to R9.062 
million. Refer to Note 5, Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements – Trade receivables and Note 13, Trade and other 
receivables.

The impact of IFRS 9 on the impairment assessment of trade 
receivables was considered to be a matter of most significance in 
the current year audit due to the following:
• The first time adoption of IFRS 9 by the Group; and
• Judgement applied by management in determining the ECL, 

particularly in relation to:
– classifying exposures into the relevant category of debtor, 

number of days in arrears and default status;
– determining the probability of default (PD), and loss given 

default (LGD); and
– application of overlays.

Our audit of the expected credit losses on trade receivables 
included, inter alia, the following procedures:
• We assessed the appropriateness of accounting policies and 

evaluated the impairment methodologies applied by the 
Group against the requirements of IFRS 9;

• We utilised our valuations experts to assess whether the 
models used by the Group to perform the impairment 
assessment complied with IFRS 9 and found the model used 
to be reasonable;

• We agreed a sample of the inputs used in the impairment 
model, such as the balance per debtor; the ageing of those 
debtor balances; and the categorisation of debtors, to the 
debtors’ age analysis to test the number of days in arrears and 
the default status. We found that the information used in the 
model is consistent with the debtor’s age analysis;

• We assessed the judgement applied by management in 
determining the PD, and LGD against credit ratings, historical 
performance of exposures, contractual terms and other 
appropriate data, and found these estimates to be reasonable;

• Where management overlays were used, we assessed these 
against our understanding of relevant external factors such as 
the financial condition of the Group’s customers, and were 
satisfied that the overlays applied were reasonable; and

• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the expected credit 
losses for each category of debtors and considered the 
amount to be reasonable.

Independent auditors’ report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of intangible assets from the acquisition of  
Law Trusted Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd (LAWtrust)

Due to the business acquisition made by the Group in the current 
year, the Group recognised customer relationships and brands; 
and computer software of R15.847 million and R2.717 million 
respectively.

Refer to the following notes to the financial statements:
• Note 7 - Intangible assets; and
• Note 39 - Business combinations.

The following valuation models were used by management to 
value the intangible assets:
• Income Approach for customer relationships; and
• Royalty Relief Method for Brands.

The following key assumptions are applied in the valuation 
models:

Income Approach:
• Revenue growth rate; and
• Discount rate.

Royalty Relief Method:
• Royalty rate.

We considered this area to be a matter of most significance in our 
audit of the current year due to the significant judgements made 
by management in the identification and valuation of the 
intangible assets.

We tested the identification and valuation of the intangible 
assets identified in the IFRS 3 (Business combinations) purchase 
price allocation performed by management on the acquisition 
of LAWtrust, by performing, inter alia, the following procedures:
• Discussions were held with both management as well as 

management’s expert in order to understand the background 
and business of LAWtrust, the acquisition by the Group of 
LAWtrust and the process followed by management to 
identify the intangible assets acquired;

• We utilised our valuations expertise to assess the 
methodology adopted by management in the valuation 
models. Based on our work performed, we found the 
approach applied by management to be consistent with 
market practice;

• With the assistance of our valuations expert we independently 
valued the intangible assets in line with our understanding of 
the intangible assets identified in accordance with IFRS 3 and 
recognised in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 13, Fair 
value measurement. We found management’s valuations to fall 
within our independently calculated range of values; and

• We tested the mathematical accuracy of both valuation 
models used by management to value the identified 
intangible assets and no exceptions were noted.

We assessed management’s assumptions used in the valuation 
models used to value intangible assets, by performing the 
following procedures:

• We assessed management’s budgeting process including the 
revenue growth rate by comparing budgets prepared for 
LAWtrust to actual prior year results of LAWtrust. Where past 
results were not reflective of previously approved forecasts or 
where subsequent adjustments were made to the budgets, 
support was obtained, e.g. brand plans and marketing 
projects to support revenue growth and other forecasted 
information. Our assessment noted no exceptions; and

• We utilised our valuations expertise to independently 
calculate a weighted average capital discount rate as well as a 
royalty rate. The discount rate included the cost of debt, risk 
free rates in the market, market risk premiums, debt/equity 
ratios, as well as the beta of comparable companies. The 
royalty rate used by management was assessed by comparing 
to market related royalty rates. The discount rates and royalty 
rates used by management were found to be within an 
acceptable range of our independent calculations.

We performed sensitivity analyses on the methods adopted by 
management and focused on the discount rates, the royalty 
rate, attrition rate and financial forecasts for each category of 
assets identified. The sensitivity analyses were performed to 
assess the reasonableness of the valuation of intangible assets. 
No exceptions were noted.
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document 
titled “Etion Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019”, the document titled “Etion Limited Separate annual financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2019” and the document titled “Etion Integrated report 2019”, which includes the Directors’ 
Report, the Audit Committee’s Report and the Certificate from the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa. The other information does not include the consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s reports 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion 
or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities	of	the	directors	for	the	consolidated	financial	statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s	responsibilities	for	the	audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Independent auditors’ report continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Etion Limited for four years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: P.Pope
Registered Auditor

Johannesburg 

31 July 2019



ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019    10

Consolidated statement of financial position 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Note(s)
2019 

R’000
2018 

R’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 48 455 50 294
Intangible assets 7 191 421 118 543
Investment in joint venture 8 – –
Deferred tax asset 10 20 945 14 722
Other financial assets 11 1 010 1 010

261 831 184 569

Current assets
Inventories 12 87 549 88 276
Loan to related company 9 2 330 –
Trade and other receivables 13 163 630 140 790
Contract assets 18 18 927 –
Current tax receivable 7 566 5 513
Cash and cash equivalents 14 50 611 50 800

330 613 285 379

Total assets 592 444 469 948

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 15 259 541 212 141
Retained income 83 753 90 305

343 294 302 446

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 32 968 27 788
Contract liabilities 18 274 –
Deferred tax liability 10 9 300 5 164

42 542 32 952

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 132 175 110 155
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 43 522 9 461
Contract liabilities 18 14 918 –
Current tax payable 970 –
Provisions 19 1 890 5 388
Bank overdraft 14 13 133 9 546

206 608 134 550

Total liabilities 249 150 167 502

Total equity and liabilities 592 444 469 948
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Note(s)
2019 

R’000
2018 

R’000

Revenue 21 595 939 572 562
Cost of sales 22 (415 326) (410 379)

Gross profit 180 613 162 183
Other operating income 23 4 877 2 276
Other operating (losses)/gains 24 (8 956) 7 849
Other operating expenses 25 (166 360) (125 787)

Operating profit 10 174 46 521
Finance income 27 1 717 1 975
Finance costs 28 (11 262) (6 143)

Profit before taxation 629 42 353
Taxation 29 (3 359) (8 929)

(Loss)/profit for the year (2 730) 33 424
Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (2 730) 33 424

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
Owners of the parent (2 730) 33 473
Non-controlling interest – (49)

(2 730) 33 424

Earnings per share
Per share information
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 32 (0.53) 7.26
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Share 
capital 
R’000

Retained
 income 

R’000

Total 
attributable 

to equity 
holders of 

the company
 R’000

Non-
controlling

 interest 
R’000

Total 
equity 
R’000

Balance at 1 April 2017 212 141 56 652 268 793 229 269 022

Profit for the year – 33 473 33 473 (49) 33 424
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the year – 33 473 33 473 (49) 33 424

Buy back of minority interest shares in subsidiary – 180 180 (180) –

Opening balance as previously reported 212 141 90 305 302 446 – 302 446
Adjustment from adoption of IFRS 9, net of tax – (3 822) (3 822) – (3 822)

Balance at 1 April 2018 as restated 212 141 86 483 298 624 – 298 624

Loss for the year – (2 730) (2 730) – (2 730)
Other comprehensive income – – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year – (2 730) (2 730) – (2 730)

Shares issued as part of the business combination 20 100 – 20 100 – 20 100
Share issue 27 300 – 27 300 – 27 300

Total contributions by owners of company  
recognised directly in equity 47 400 – 47 400 – 47 400

Balance at 31 March 2019 259 541 83 753 343 294 – 343 294

Note(s) 15
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Note(s)
2019 

R’000
2018 

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 561 283 556 150
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (527 513) (555 460)

Cash generated from operations 30 33 770 690
Interest income 27 1 717 1 975
Finance costs 28 (4 668) (6 143)
Tax paid 20 (11 277) (23 110)

Net cash from operating activities 19 542 (26 588)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (2 921) (4 942)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 435 1 169
Purchase of intangible assets 7 (10 514) (7 578)
Business combinations, net of cash acquired 39 (63 103) –

Net cash from investing activities (76 103) (11 351)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on share issue 15 27 300 –
Repayment of interest bearing borrowings (25 391) (5 536)
Proceeds from of interest-bearing borrowings 38 58 038 972

Net cash from financing activities 59 947 (4 564)

Total cash movement for the year 3 386 (42 503)
Cash at beginning of year 41 254 79 235
Unrealised foreign exchange adjustment (7 162) 4 522

Total cash at end of year 14 37 478 41 254
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Accounting policies 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These accounting policies are consistent with the previous year, except as noted in note 2 – Changes in significant 
accounting policies.

1.1 Basis of preparation
The annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the JSE Listings Requirements and the Companies Act of South Africa. The annual consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, on a going concern basis, and presented in  
South African Rand (rounded to the nearest R’000), which is the Group’s functional currency.

1.2 Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use or for rental to others and which are 
expected to be used for more than one year.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment 
(including directly attributable costs in bringing the asset to its location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner that management intended) and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it 
to the extent it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. 
Day-to-day servicing costs are expensed. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, 
plant and equipment, the replaced part is derecognised.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that  
the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying value exceeds the estimated 
recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately. 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method. Land is not depreciated. The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying 
amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The estimated useful lives of the major categories of property, plant and equipment are:
Buildings     20 years
Plant and machinery    5 – 10 years
Furniture and fittings    6 years
Motor vehicles    5 – 7 years
Office equipment    4 – 7 years
Computer and electronic equipment  3 – 16 years
Leasehold improvements   Period of the lease
Manufacturing equipment   4 – 17 years
Tools and laboratory equipment   3 – 18 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit 
or loss when the item is derecognised.

1.3 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable  
assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of business is included in intangible assets. 
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are not 
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of a business include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the business sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those  
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
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1.4 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

 Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease liability. This liability is 
not discounted. Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.5 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted average method.  
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and other direct costs but excludes 
interest expenses. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable 
variable selling expenses. The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services 
produced and segregated for specific projects is assigned using specific identification of the individual costs.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories 
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.6 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

1.7 Revenue recognition
Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

Applying IFRS 15 results in a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from contracts.

The Group recognises as revenue the amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for goods or services when (or as) it transfers control to the customer.

The Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers. Revenue can be classified into the following categories:
• Sale of goods manufactured
• Sale of finished goods
• Sale of designed, developed and project services
• Sale of network installation 
• Sale of licences
• Support and maintenance services

The Group recognises revenue when a customer obtains control of the goods or services. Determining the timing of the 
transfer of control over time or at a point in time requires judgement and is determined as detailed below. Revenue is 
recorded based on the price specified in the contract. No discounts or rebates are provided. No element of financing is 
deemed present as the sales are usually made with a credit term of 30 days, which is consistent with market practice.  
The Group’s obligation to provide a refund for faulty products under the standard warranty terms is recognised as a provision. 
The Group does not sell extended warranties.

	 Sale	of	finished	goods,	sale	of	goods	manufactured	and	sale	of	licenses	(“goods”)
Sale of finished goods relates to where the Group sells on finished products procured to the end customer. Sale of goods 
manufactured relates to products that are manufactured and sold to customers based on the customers’ or the group’s own 
specifications. Sale of licenses relates to the customisation and deployment of cloud-based electronic solutions for use by  
the customer.

Customers obtain control of the “goods” when the goods are delivered to the location as specified. Delivery occurs when the 
goods have been shipped to the specific location and the customer has accepted the goods by means of a signed delivery 
receipt. Revenue from the sale of licences is recognised at the point in time at which the licence is granted and the customer 
can direct the use of and obtain substantially all the remaining benefits from the licence at the point in time at which the 
licence transfers.
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Accounting policies continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.7 Revenue recognition (continued)
	 	Sale	of	designed,	development	and	project	services,	sale	of	network	installation	services	and	support	and	maintenance	

services	(“services”)
Sale of network installation services relates to installation services. Sale of designed, development and project services relates to 
a range of services offered to the markets in which we operate. Services also include provision of maintenance and support 
services for these solutions.

Revenue from providing “services” is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. For the sale of 
design, development and project services revenue is recognised over time by using the input method as reference to costs 
incurred to date as a percentage of total expected costs to be incurred at the end of the reporting period. Revenue from 
services is price based on the individual performance obligation.

The Group determined that the input method is the best method in measuring progress of the sale of design, development 
and project services as well as installation, maintenance and support services because there is a direct relationship between 
the Group’s effort (i.e., labour hours incurred) and the transfer of service to the customer. The Group recognises revenue on the 
basis of the labour hours expended relative to the total expected labour hours to complete the service or with reference to 
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total expected costs to be incurred at the end of the reporting period, depending on 
the nature of the contract. 

Policy applicable before 1 April 2018

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities for 
sale of goods and services net of value added tax, estimated returns, rebates and discounts.

Revenue from the sale of goods can be further classified into “sale of goods manufactured” as well as “sale of finished goods”.

“Sale of goods manufactured” relates to products that are manufactured and sold to clients based on the clients’ or the group’s 
own specifications. “Sale of finished goods” relates to where the Group sells on finished products procured to the end client.

In both instances, revenue is recognised when:
• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods – this is established when 

goods are delivered to the customer and they have accepted the goods by means of signed delivery receipts;
• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 

control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

The sales of services can be further classified into ”sale of network installation services” as well as “sale of design, development 
and project services”. When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of ”sale of design, development and project 
services” can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when 
all the following conditions are satisfied:
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group.
• The stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably.
• The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of “sale of design, development and project services” cannot be 
estimated reliably, revenue shall be recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable. When it is 
probable that total project cost will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.



17    ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

“Network installation services”, sold to various third parties, are provided on a time and material basis or as a fixed price 
contract. Revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours are delivered and 
direct expenses incurred. Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised under the percentage of completion method. 
Under this method, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the 
reporting period. Stage of completion is determined by reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of total expected 
costs to be incurred. When the stage of completion differs from the actual invoicing at financial year end, it is recognised as 
project receivable in trade and other receivables or billings in excess of earnings in trade and other payables, as appropriate.

Contract service revenue normally comprises:
• the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract; and
• variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments;

– to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue; and
– that are capable of being reliably measured.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

When loans and receivables are impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the 
estimated future cash flows discount at the original effective interest of the instrument, and continues unwinding the 
discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is recognised using the effective interest rate.

1.8 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories 
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of 
inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. The related cost of providing services recognised as 
revenue in the current period is included in cost of sales.

1.9 Current and deferred income tax Income tax expense
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an 
expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income; or
• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income. Current tax and deferred taxes are 
charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, 
directly in equity.

 Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 
to the tax authorities.

Current income tax for current and prior years is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in 
respect of current and prior years exceeds the amount due for those years, the excess is recognised as an asset.

 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using 
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised, for the carry forward of unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available, against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.10 Financial instruments

Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held 
by the Group are presented below:

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Group,as applicable, are as follows: 

Financial assets which are debt instruments:
• Amortised cost. (This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business 
model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows).

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship:
• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:
• Amortised cost.

Note 4 – Financial instruments and risk management presents the financial instruments held by the Company based on their 
specific classifications.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

	 Non-current	financial	assets	at	amortised	cost	
	 Classification

Loans to related companies (note 12) and entities outside the Group (other non-current financial assets – note 10) are classified 
as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates, to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group’s business model is to 
collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

	 Recognition	and	measurement
Loans receivable are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are 
measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially, minus principal repayments, plus amortisation (interest) 
using the simplified interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any 
loss allowance.

	 Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on all loans receivable measured at amortised cost.  
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial  
recognition of the respective loans.

The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a loan has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, then the loss allowance for that loan is measured at 12-month expected credit losses (12-month ECL).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
loan. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a loan 
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

In order to assess whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12-month ECL, in other words, whether or not there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in the risk of 
a default occurring since initial recognition rather than at evidence of a loan being credit impaired at the reporting date or of 
an actual default occurring.

Accounting policies continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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 Trade and other receivables 
	 Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT, employee costs in advance and prepayments are classified as 
financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost (note 13).

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group’s business model is to collect the 
contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.

	 Recognition	and	measurement
Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. 
They are measured, at initial recognition, at the transaction price.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative 
amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity 
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

	 Impairment
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT, employee costs 
in advance and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses 
(lifetime ECL) based on the simplified approach, which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the receivable.

	 Measurement	and	recognition	of	expected	credit	losses
The Group makes use of an ECL calculation to the determination of expected credit losses on trade and other receivables.

The calculation is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the time 
value of money, where appropriate.

The customer base is segmented into groups that are considered to exhibit similar credit risks and behaviour. Specific 
exposures are evaluated separately and where relevant given different ECLs. Methods used for these, include use of published 
ratings adjusted as appropriate, calculation of PD and LDG using Moody’s Analytics’ “RiskCalc” SA company financial 
statement model and database and/or alternate techniques, including decision trees that take into account specific 
circumstances. Concentrated positions including material account balances or typical customers are provided with separate 
ECLs where appropriate. Details of the critical judgements and assumptions applied in calculating the loss allowance is in 
note 13.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade 
and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is included in other operating expenses 
in profit or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance (note 25).

	 Write-off	policy
The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.10 Financial instruments (continued)
 Trade and other receivables (continued)
	 Credit	risk

Details of credit risk are included in trade and other receivables note (refer to note 13) and the financial instruments and risk 
management note (refer to note 4).

	 Trade	payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in normal operating cycle of business if longer), they are classified as 
current liabilities. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

	 Bank	overdraft	and	borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Bank overdrafts and 
borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and  
the redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date.

	 Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments, which are not designated as hedging instruments, consisting of future and option contracts 
are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss as they arise. 

Policy applicable before 1 April 2018

	 Classification
The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
• Loans and receivables
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
• Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial 
recognition. Classification is reassessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

No other reclassifications may be made into or out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Accounting policies continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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	 Initial	recognition	and	measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of  
the instruments. The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, 
a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement at fair value.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument. Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial liabilities and assets at fair value through profit or loss” 
category are presented in the income statement within “other (losses)/gains” in the period in which they arise.

	 Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

	 Fair	value	determination
If the market for a financial asset is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include 
the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity- 
specific inputs.

	 Impairment	of	financial	assets
At each reporting date the Group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or Group of financial assets has been impaired. For amounts due to 
the Group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of 
payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the 
restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what 
the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss 
within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write-off is made against the relevant allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

	 Loans	to	related	companies
These include loans to joint ventures and are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs. Loans to Group 
companies are classified as loans and receivables.

	 Trade	and	other	receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within administrative and operating expenses.

When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other income in the statement of comprehensive income.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

	 Trade	payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in a normal operating cycle of business if longer), they are classified as 
current liabilities. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.10 Financial instruments (continued)
 Trade and other receivables (continued)
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

	 Bank	overdraft	and	borrowings
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Bank overdrafts and 
borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the statement of financial position date.

	 Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments, which are not designated as hedging instruments, consisting of future and option contracts 
are initially measured at fair value on the contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in profit or loss as they arise. Derivatives are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – held for trading.

1.11 Foreign currencies
 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Group operates (the functional currency).

 Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

At the end of the reporting period:
• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rate at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 

date when the fair value was determined.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount 
the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can 
be made.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any 
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Accounting policies continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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1.13 Accrued revenue/billings in excess of earnings (contract assets/contract liabilities)
The value of accrued revenue (contract assets) comprises the selling price for services rendered up to and including reporting 
date, which cannot be invoiced at this date due to contractual milestones not yet reached. The value is calculated based on 
the percentage of completion method for fixed price development contracts. The value is stated at selling price less provision 
for impairment, if any.

The value of billings in excess of earnings (contract liabilities) comprises the excess of invoice values over the selling price for 
services rendered recognised up to and including reporting date. The value is calculated based on the percentage of 
completion method for fixed price development contracts. The value is stated at selling price less provision for impairment,  
if any.

Revenue is recognised over time by using the input method as reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of total 
expected costs to be incurred at the end of the reporting period.

1.14	 Impairment	of	non-financial	assets
Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher  
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is determined. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, attributable to each of the cash-generating units,  
or companies of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so attributable represents the lowest level within the entity at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, and is not larger than an operating segment as defined by 
paragraph 5 of IFRS 8 Operating Segments before aggregation.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount 
of the unit. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:
• First, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit; and
• Then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 
for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods. A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than 
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.15	 Employee	benefits
	 Short-term	employee	benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are recognised in the period in which the 
service is rendered and are not discounted. The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the 
employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 
occurs. The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.15	 Employee	benefits	(continued)
	 Defined	contribution	plans

The Group operates a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does 
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior years.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on 
a mandatory basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions 
are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due and as the employee renders the services. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments are available.

 Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit 
attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually 
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

1.16 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the year in which the 
dividends are approved by the directors.

1.17 Consolidation – subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of 
accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively.

 Change in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the 
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount 
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve 
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

1.18 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the period. Headline earnings per ordinary share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the period and is based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as required 
by Circular 2/2015 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA).

1.19 Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. The amortisation period 
and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period end.

Accounting policies continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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An intangible asset arising from internal developments (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefits;
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset; and
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred. 
Intangible assets include the following:

 Externally acquired computer software
Costs associated with the maintaining of externally acquired computer software are recognised as an expense.

Costs of externally acquired computer software products recognised as intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives 
(not exceeding two years).

 Internally generated intangible assets (developed products)
Costs associated with maintaining internally generated intangible assets are recognised as an expense. Costs that are directly 
associated with development or enhancement of identifiable and unique products or features that is under the control of the 
Group and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible 
assets. Costs include the employee costs incurred as a result of developing the products, an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads as well as any hardware utilised in the development process.

Development costs on internally generated intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives.

	 Intangible	assets	identified	as	part	of	business	combination
As part of the Fair Value Exercise (IFRS 3) certain intangible assets may be identified and recognised at the date of acquisition. 
These assets are amortised over the amortisation periods as per below.

Intangible assets are amortised at the following rates:

Item Average useful life/amortisation period

Externally acquired
Computer software 2 years
Internally generated (developed products):
Rail products 2 – 3 years
Defence and cyber security products 3 – 5 years
Mining and industrial products 2 – 7 years
Telecommunications products 3 – 5 years
Intangible assets identified as part of business combination:
Brand 5 years
Customer relationships 5 years

1.20 Segment reporting
The segment information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, which requires disclosure of 
financial information of an entity’s operating segments.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services within a particular 
economic environment, which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. All intercompany 
transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The group operates within four operating segments and its principle activities are:
(a) Etion Digitise: Safety and Productivity Solutions (SPS)
(b) Etion Connect: Digital Network Solutions (DNS)
(c) Etion Secure: Cyber Security Solutions (LAWtrust)
(d) Etion Create: Original Design Manufacturing (ODM)
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.21 Investments in joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. This excludes investments which are held for sale 
and are consequently accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
Interest in equity-accounted investees are initially recognised at cost. Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of a joint venture 
as well as an associate company is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

 Derecognition
On the date that the equity-accounted investments are disposed of, the Group ceases to equity account the investments.

 Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group recognises its share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income until 
the date on which joint control ceases.

 Impairment
The Group assesses whether there is any indication that an equity-accounted investee may be impaired at each reporting 
date. An impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that the equity-accounted investment is impaired. 
Impairment losses are deducted from the carrying amount of these investments. Any impairment is calculated after 
application of the equity method. Losses resulting from transactions with equity-accounted investees are recognised only  
to the extent of unrelated investor interests in the equity-accounted investees.

 Unrealised gains and losses
Unrealised gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in them, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset. When the Group’s share of 
losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest therein, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless the 
Company has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Accounting policies continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

2. Changes in significant accounting policies
The Group has initially adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (see A) and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  
(see B) from 1 April 2018. A number of other new standards are effective from 1 January 2018 but they do not have a material 
effect on the Group’s financial statements.

The effect of initially applying these standards is mainly attributed to the following:
• An increase in impairment losses recognised on trade receivables. (see B).

 A – IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.  
It replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with the effect of initially applying this standard 
recognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 April 2018). Accordingly, the information presented in the 31 March 2018 
financial statements has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 18 and related interpretations. 
The Group has also applied the practical expedients that are available under this method. There was no material impact on the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The changes made to the statement of financial position at 31 March 2019 
are the disclosure of contract assets and liabilities, which were disclosed in trade and other receivables, inventory and trade 
and other payables as at 31 March 2018.

 B – IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities. This standard replaces  
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 using the modified retrospective approach, with the initial application date of 1 April 2018.

	 Classification	and	measurement
Under IFRS 9 debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, amortised cost, or fair value 
through OCI. The classification is based on two criteria: the Group’s business model for managing the assets; and whether the 
instruments’ contractual cash flows represent “solely payments of principal and interest” on the principal amount outstanding.

The assessment of the Group’s business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. The classification and 
measurement requirements of IFRS 9 did not have a significant impact on the Group. The following is the change in the 
classification of the Group’s financial assets:

Original classification 
under IAS 39

New classification 
under IFRS 9

Original 
carrying 
amount 

under IAS 39

New 
carrying 
amount 

under IFRS 9

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost 131 156 125 846
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 50 800 50 800
Other financial assets Loans and receivables Amortised cost 1 010 1 010
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 91 131 91 131
Interest-bearing borrowings Amortised cost Amortised cost 37 249 37 249
Bank overdraft Amortised cost Amortised cost 9 546 9 546

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss. There are no changes in classification 
and measurement for the Group’s financial liabilities.

	 Impairment	of	financial	assets
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Group’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by 
replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the 
Company to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. Under IFRS 9 
credit losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.

The Group has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements at 1 April 2018 results in the recognition of 
an additional impairment on the Group’s trade receivables and a resultant decrease in retained earnings of R3.822 million as at 
1 April 2018.
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Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

2. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)

Allowance for 
impairment 

under IAS 39 
at 31 March

 2018
Remeasure-

ment

ECL under
 IFRS 9 as at 

1 April 2018

Loans and receivables under IAS 39/Financial assets at amortised cost  
under IFRS 9 855 5 310 6 165
The remeasurement comprises:
Gross debtor remeasurement 5 310
Deferred tax (1 488)

3 822

3. New standards and interpretations
3.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/interpretation:
Effective date: years 
beginning on or after Expected impact:

•  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 The impact of the standard is set out in  
note 2 Changes in significant accounting 
policies.

•  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 The impact of the standard is set out in  
note 2 Changes in significant accounting 
policies.

•  Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to  
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018 The impact of the standard is set out in  
note 2 Changes in significant accounting 
policies.

•  Amendments to IAS 28: Annual Improvements to 
IFRS 2014 – 2016 cycle

1 January 2018 The impact of the standard is not material.

•  Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration

1 January 2018 The impact of the standard is not material.
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3.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective
The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2019 or later periods:

Standard/interpretation:
Effective date: years 
beginning on or after Expected impact:

•  Long-term Interests in Joint Ventures and  
Associates – Amendments to IAS 28

1 January 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact.

•  Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: 
Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015 – 2017 cycle

1 January 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact.

•  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Annual 
Improvements to IFRS 2015 – 2017 cycle

1 January 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact.

•  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact.

•  IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 Expected impact is detailed below.

 IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement 
Contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the  
Legal Form of a Lease.

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities that 
apply IFRS 15 at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. 
There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the 
current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

The Group leases its head office buildings for each entity, a warehouse building, major equipment as well as certain low value 
assets and short-term leases and currently accounts for these as operating leases. Currently operating lease expenses are 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and assets and liabilities are recognised only to the extent that 
there is a timing difference between actual lease payments and the expense recognised. Short-term leases and leases of low 
value items will continue to be recognised on the straight-line basis.

The application of IFRS 16 will result in the Group recognising appropriate right-of-use assets and liabilities for its current 
operating leases, as lessee. The nature of expenses related to those leases will change in that the Group will recognise a 
depreciation charge relating to the right-of-use assets and interest expenses on lease liabilities.

Based on the information currently available, the Group estimates that it will recognise additional lease liabilities  
of R32.452 million as at 1 April 2019. The Group also estimates that it will recognise additional right-of-use assets of  
R32.452 million as at 1 April 2019. 

Management will implement revised lease disclosure on adoption of the IFRS 16.

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, using the modified retrospective approach with practical expedients. 
Therefore, the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings at 1 April 2019, with no restatement of comparative information.
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4. Financial instruments and risk management
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate  
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Company’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors.

	 Categories	of	financial	instruments	
	 Categories	of	financial	assets	

Note(s)

Amortised 
cost 

R’000
Total 

R’000
Fair value 

R’000

2019
Loan to related company 12 2 330 2 330 2 330
Trade and other receivables 13 158 118 158 118 158 118
Cash and cash equivalents 14 50 611 50 611 50 611
Other financial asset 10 1 010 1 010 1 010

212 069 212 069 212 069

Note(s)

Loans and 
receivables

 R’000
Total 

R’000
Fair value

 R’000

2018
Trade and other receivables 13 131 155 131 155 131 155
Cash and cash equivalents 14 50 800 50 800 50 800
Other financial asset 10 1 010 1 010 1 010

182 965 182 965 182 965

	 Categories	of	financial	liabilities

Note(s)

Amortised 
cost 

R’000
Total 

R’000
Fair value 

R’000

2019
Trade and other payables 17 110 350 110 350 110 350
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 76 490 76 490 76 379
Bank overdraft 14 13 133 13 133 13 133

199 947 199 947 199 947

Note(s)

Amortised
cost

 R’000
Total 

R’000
Fair value

 R’000

2018
Trade and other payables 17 91 131 91 131 91 131
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 37 249 37 249 37 249
Bank overdraft 14 9 546 9 546 9 546

137 926 137 926 137 926
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 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings (excluding derivative financial liabilities) 
disclosed in note 16, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 14, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial 
position.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the 
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. Consistent with others in the 
industry, the Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total “borrowings” (including current and  
non-current “borrowings” as shown in the statement of financial position) less “cash and cash equivalents”. Total capital is 
calculated as “equity” as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital,the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed 
capital requirements from the previous year.

The gearing ratio at 2019 and 2018 respectively were as follows:

Note(s)
2019 

R’000
2018 

R’000

Total borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 76 490 37 249
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 14 (37 478) (41 254)

Net debt 39 012 (4 005)

Total equity 343 294 302 446

Total capital 382 306 298 441

Gearing ratio 10% (1%)

 Financial risk management
	 Credit	risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial 
institutions as well as credit exposures to large customers, including outstanding receivables. For banks and financial 
institutions, only the big four banks in South Africa are accepted. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. 
Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer taking into account its 
financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in 
accordance with limits set by management.

The Group may request certain customers to provide advance payments, as collateral against credit risk, in respect of 
contracts concluded. The objective of such collateral is to counter the risk of non-payment by the Group’s contract debtors.  
This process is followed by the Group as far as possible to manage the credit risk before credit is granted to the customers  
on projects.

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited by investing in highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash. Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand, bank balances and demand deposits.

The credit quality of cash and bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to external credit rating (if available) or historical information about counterparty default rates.

	 Trade	receivables
Refer to note 13.



ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019    32

Notes to the annual consolidated financial statements (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

4. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Loans	to	related	companies

Loans to related companies are repayable on demand.

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are recognised for all debt instruments, but excluding those measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

2019 2018

Notes

Gross
carrying
amount

R’000

Credit loss
allowance

R’000

Amortised
cost/fair

value
R’000

Gross
carrying
amount

R’000

Credit loss
allowance

R’000

Amortised
cost/fair

value
R’000

Loan to group company 12 2 350 (20) 2 330 – – –
Trade and other receivables 13 167 180 (9 062) 158 118 132 011 (855) 131 156
Contract assets 18 927 – 18 927 20 220 – 20 220
Cash and cash equivalents 14 50 611 – 50 611 50 800 – 50 800

239 068 (9 082) 229 986 210 367 (855) 209 512

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Credit rating
BAA3: Nedbank; Standard Bank and First National Bank 37 487 50 072

	 Liquidity	risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities. The Company aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines 
available.

Notes
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 to 2 years
Between 

2 to 5 years
Over 

5 years

2019
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 – 3 524 39 489 –
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 56 625 – – –
Trade and other payables 17 110 350 – – –
Bank overdraft 14 13 133 – – –

180 108 3 524 39 489 –

2018
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings 16 1 046 11 511 23 184 14 510
Trade and other payables 17 91 131 – – –
Bank overdraft 14 9 546 – – –
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	 Foreign	currency	risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,  
primarily with respect to the US Dollar. Foreign exchange risks arise from future commercial transactions as well as recognised 
assets and liabilities, denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency.

Management uses Forward Exchange Contracts (FECs) and futures contracts to hedge certain foreign currency liabilities 
when and where applicable to manage the exchange risk on these transactions. This is consistent with the method used in 
prior years.

	 Foreign	currency	exposure	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period
The net carrying amounts, in foreign currency of the above exposure, was as follows:

’000 ’000

Current assets:
Trade debtors (USD debtors) US$466 3 693
Cash (USD bank accounts) US$72 152
Current liabilities: –
Trade creditors (USD creditors) US$4 541 3 869
Trade creditors (AUD creditors) AUD57 –
Trade creditors (Euro creditors) €66 –
Trade creditors (GBP creditors) GBP2 –
Exchange rates
The following closing exchange rates were applied at reporting date:
Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:
US Dollar 14.460 11.810
Euro 16.230 14.540
GBP 19.000 –
AU Dollar 10.560 –

	 Forward	exchange	contracts
The group has entered into forward exchange contracts for future commitments. These are market to market daily through 
cash and bank.

Value of
contract

Number of
contracts

Future
contract 

rate

Fair value
translation 

rate

Contract
maturity 

date

2019
Options contracts
USD US$400 000 1 14.22 14.460 2019/04/12
USD US$400 000 1 14.56 14.460 2019/04/26
Future contracts
USD US$200 000 200 14.60 14.610 2019/06/14
USD US$150 000 150 14.60 14.610 2019/06/14
USD US$350 000 350 14.41 14.410 2019/06/14
USD US$340 000 340 14.72 14.940 2019/12/13
USD US$160 000 160 14.72 14.940 2019/12/13
AUD AUD134 184 5 14.13 14.339 2019/04/30
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4. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
	 Categories	of	financial	instruments	(continued)
 Financial risk management (continued)
	 Forward	exchange	contracts	(continued)

Value of
contract

Number of
contracts

Future
contract 

rate

Fair value
translation 

rate

Contract
maturity 

date

2018
Future contracts
USD US$1 000 1 14.11 11.969 2018/06/18
USD US$1 000 000 1 000 14.18 13.92 2018/06/18
USD US$500 000 500 14.77 13.92 2018/06/18
USD US$750 000 750 13.70 13.92 2018/06/18
USD US$750 000 750 12.750 13.92 2018/06/18
USD US$478 000 478 14.673 13.92 2018/06/18
USD US$500 000 500 12.360 12.33 2018/09/17
USD US$500 000 500 12.305 12.33 2018/09/17
USD US$1 000 300 15.055 12.108 2018/09/17
Option contracts
USD US$300 000 1 14.7175 11.8177 2018/04/11
USD US$100 000 1 14.8115 11.8177 2018/04/05
USD US$300 000 1 14.8125 11.8177 2018/05/18
USD US$100 000 1 14.8820 11.8177 2018/05/03
USD US$300 000 1 14.8975 11.8177 2018/06/12
USD US$300 000 1 14.9825 11.8177 2018/07/12

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following information presents the sensitivity of the Group to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is 
exposed to. The sensitivity rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated amounts and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. 
No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the 
previous reporting period.

Increase or decrease in rate
2019 

Increase
2019 

Decrease
2018 

Increase
2018 

Decrease

Impact on profit or loss:
US Dollar 5% (2018: 5 %) 2 894 (2 894) 16 (16)
Australian Dollar 5% (2018: N/A) 22 (2) – –
Euros 5% (2018: N/A) 54 (54) – –
GBP 5% (2018: N/A) 30 (30) – –

2 980 (2 980) 16 (16)
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	 Interest	rate	risk
As the Group has interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s income and operating cash flows are partly dependent on 
changes in market rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings, related party loans as well as cash 
and cash equivalents. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued 
at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value risk. During March 2019 and 2018, the Group’s borrowings at variable rates were 
only denominated in South African Rand.

The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration 
refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and possible hedging. Based on the scenarios, the Group 
calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent 
the major interest-bearing positions.

As at 31 March 2019, if interest rates on South African Rand denominated borrowings at that date had been 100 basis points 
lower with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit would have been R942 716 higher due to the net increase in interest 
earned on bank deposits and paid on borrowings. In March 2018 the pre-tax profit would have been R406 731 lower if there 
were a 100 basis points increase in the net interest earned on bank deposits and paid on borrowings for that financial year

	 Price	risk
The Group is not exposed to equity securities or commodity price risk.

	 Fair	value	estimation
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.  
The Company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each 
reporting date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, 
such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. Refer to 
note 36 for the fair value disclosures.

The nominal value less loss allowance of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair 
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to the Company for similar financial instruments.

The fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using the DCF method using  
discount rate that reflects the prime interest rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own non-performance risk  
as at 31 March 2019 was assessed to be insignificant.

5.	 Critical	accounting	estimates	and	judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Impairment
The Group tests annually whether any cash-generating units and goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with 
the accounting policy stated in note 1.3. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been 
determined based on the higher of value-in-use calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the 
use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the gross margin, growth rate and/or discount rate 
assumptions may change which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the 
carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent 
of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of 
expected future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of goodwill 
and tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number 
of factors including supply/demand, together with economic factors such as the economic stability of the country of main 
operations, fluctuation in exchange rates etc. Refer to note 7 for estimates used.
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5.	 Critical	accounting	estimates	and	judgements	(continued)
(b) Trade receivables

The impairment provision for trade receivables is calculated using the Moody’s Analytics Credit Loss and Impairment Analysis 
Suite. The tool provides solutions for the most crucial aspects of the impairment calculation process based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the 
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the analysis of empirical evidence of historical defaults and losses and existing 
market conditions. Material and concentrated exposures were assessed separately. The assessment of the correlation between 
historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is 
sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. At every reporting date, the historical observed 
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The key assumptions and inputs involved include the following:
• A default is classified as any amount that is not collected within 90 days of the start of the month in which it was invoiced.
• Default rates were derived on a value basis.
• Asset values were put through Moody’s Analytics ImpairmentCalc which incorporates their GCor macroeconomic data, 

forecasts, weightings and correlations to convert historic credit losses to forward looking ECLs.
• The resultant PD and LGDs are converted from Through The Cycle (TTC) to Point in Time (PIT) measures using Moody’s 

Analytics ImpairmentCalc product, which conditions these measures based on their database of validated historic SA 
macroeconomic data and then calculates a forward looking ECL using macroeconomic forecasts with a probability 
weighted average of Moody’s Analytics’ economic forecasts and scenarios – Baseline, Stronger Near-Term Rebound (S1), and 
Moderate Recession (S3), weighted 40%, 30% and 30%.

(c) Allowance for slow moving, damaged and obsolete inventory
An allowance is made for inventory to write inventory down to the lower of cost or net realisable value. Management has 
made estimates of the selling price and direct cost to sell on certain inventory items. The write-down is included in the cost 
of sales note.

(d) Deferred tax assets
The Group uses budgets and financial forecasts of the respective companies for the foreseeable future to estimate whether 
deferred tax assets are recoverable or not.

Management has reviewed the three-year budget and financial plan of the Group and its underlying subsidiaries and based 
on the profitability projected consider it probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses may 
be used, and the related deferred tax asset realised. Refer to note 9 for further detail.

(e) Useful lives and residual values
The useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment items, specifically manufacturing equipment items that 
are utilised over many years, are evaluated annually. Management estimates are based on historical experience and industry 
norms, taking into account any relevant information on hand of residual values of assets being utilised that is readily available 
from equipment suppliers or other players in the manufacturing environment. Management performs annual residual value 
assessments for the residual value of the building and it is expected that the residual value of the property will at least be 
cost price.

6.	 Property,	plant	and	equipment

2019 2018

 
Cost 

R’000

Accumulated
 depreciation

 R’000

Carrying 
value

 R’000
Cost 

R’000

Accumulated
 depreciation

 R’000

Carrying 
value

 R’000

Buildings 30 525 (305) 30 220 30 525 – 30 525
Manufacturing equipment 19 792 (12 092) 7 700 20 687 (10 898) 9 789
Plant and machinery 640 (391) 249 640 (299) 341
Furniture and fittings 2 835 (1 048) 1 787 2 700 (2 192) 508
Motor vehicles 4 029 (2 453) 1 576 3 924 (1 752) 2 172
Office equipment 3 868 (1 918) 1 950 4 199 (1 798) 2 401
Computer and electronic 
equipment 8 444 (5 143) 3 301 6 871 (4 585) 2 286
Leasehold improvements 759 (477) 282 1 014 (749) 265
Tools and lab equipment 4 630 (3 240) 1 390 6 374 (4 367) 2 007

Total 75 522 (27 067) 48 455 76 934 (26 640) 50 294
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 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2019

Opening 
balance 

R’000
Additions

 R’000

Additions 
through 

business
 combinations

 R’000
Disposals

 R’000
Depreciation 

R’000

Closing
 balance

 R’000

Land and buildings 30 525 – – – (305) 30 220
Manufacturing equipment 9 789 4 – – (2 093) 7 700
Furniture and fittings 508 1 127 854 (286) (416) 1 787
Motor vehicles 2 172 – 177 (61) (712) 1 576
Office equipment 2 401 4 34 (9) (480) 1 950
Computer and electronic
equipment 2 286 1 600 1 808 (92) (2 301) 3 301
Leasehold improvements 265 – 258 – (241) 282
Tools and lab equipment 2 007 186 – – (803) 1 390
Plant and machinery 341 – – – (92) 249

50 294 2 921 3 131 (448) (7 443) 48 455

 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2018

Opening
 balance 

R’000
Additions

 R’000
Disposals

 R’000
Depreciation

 R’000

Closing
 balance 

R’000

Land and buildings 30 525 – – – 30 525
Manufacturing equipment 11 940 185 – (2 336) 9 789
Furniture and fittings 438 222 – (152) 508
Motor vehicles 2 992 994 (1 061) (753) 2 172
Office equipment 2 817 99 (18) (497) 2 401
Computer and electronic equipment 1 802 1 836 (55) (1 297) 2 286
Leasehold improvements – 273 – (8) 265
Tools and lab equipment 2 181 1 200 (93) (1 281) 2 007
Plant and machinery 463 133 (140) (115) 341

53 158 4 942 (1 367) (6 439) 50 294

 Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security
The manufacturing equipment, plant and machinery and motor vehicles with a book value of R9 525 195 (2018: R10 678 270) 
serve as security for instalment sale agreements (note 16).

 Details of properties
The property is situated at 76 Regency Drive, Route 21 Corporate Park, Irene, Gauteng. The property serves as security for the 
borrowings as per note 16.
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7. Intangible assets
2019  2018

 

Cost/
 valuation

 R’000

Accumulated
 amortisation

 R’000

Carrying
 value 
R’000

Cost/
 valuation

 R’000

Accumulated
 amortisation

 R’000

Carrying 
value 
R’000

Customer relationships and brands 39 467 (20 750) 18 717 23 620 (13 385) 10 235
Computer software 6 191 (4 223) 1 968 4 575 (3 681) 894
Goodwill 149 272 – 149 272 93 072 – 93 072
Development of intellectual 
property 42 447 (20 983) 21 464 32 560 (18 218) 14 342

Total 237 377 (45 956) 191 421 153 827 (35 284) 118 543

 Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2019

Opening
 balance

 R’000
Additions

 R’000

Additions 
through

 business
 combinations

 R’000
Amortisation

 R’000

Closing
balance 

R’000

Customer relationships and brands 10 235 – 15 847 (7 365) 18 717
Development of intellectual property 14 342 10 338 – (3 216) 21 464
Computer software 894 20 2 717 (1 663) 1 968
Goodwill 93 072 – 56 200 – 149 272

118 543 10 358 74 764 (12 244) 191 421

 Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2018

Opening 
balance 

R’000
Additions 

R’000
Amortisation

 R’000

Closing 
balance 

R’000

Customer relationships and brands 14 959 – (4 724) 10 235
Development of intellectual property 10 007 6 751 (2 416) 14 342
Computer software 654 827 (587) 894
Goodwill 93 072 – – 93 072

118 692 7 578 (7 727) 118 543

 Impairment of intangibles
The recoverable amount of the development cost assets ready for sale is determined on fair value (level 3) less cost to sell 
calculations and is based on the assumption that a certain number of units will be sold over a two to seven-year period.  
The fair value is based on management’s best estimated selling price in the current market conditions, which take into 
consideration previous selling prices and current market conditions. At 31 March 2019 the development of intellectual property 
to the value of R11.116 million is still in progress, with the balance of R10.348 million already completed.

The increase in the customer relationships and brands and computer software assets is attributable to the acquisition of  
Law Trusted Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd (LAWtrust) during the current financial year. Refer to note 39 Business combinations 
for further information in this regard.
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 Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill arose as a result of historical business combinations and is assessed for impairment as follows:

 On board system products
The recoverable amount of the goodwill of R15.059 million in the Safety and Productivity Solutions (SPS) CGU relating specifically 
to the on-board system products determined based on a value-in-use calculations. The calculation used pre-tax cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by the Executive Committee covering a three-year period. The discount rates 
are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks relating to the relevant segments. The key assumptions used for the value-in-use 
calculation are as follows:

2019 
%

2018 
%

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations
Gross margin 33 33
Growth rate 1 1
Discount rate 9 21

 Parsec business combination
The recoverable amount of the goodwill of R78 million due to the Parsec business combination is determined based on a 
value-in-use calculation and is allocated to the following CGUs: Digital Network Systems (DNS): R25.2 million; and Original 
Design Manufacturing (ODM): R52.8 million. The calculation used pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by the Executive Committee covering a three-year period. Cash flows beyond the initial three-year period were 
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate disclosed below. The discount rates are pre-tax and reflect the specific risks 
relating to the relevant segments. The key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculation are as follows:

DNS ODM

2019
%

2018
%

2019
%

2018
%

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
Gross margin 27 26 28 34 
Growth rate 8 8 10 10 
Discount rate 24 18 22 18 
Terminal growth rate 5 5 5 5

 LAWtrust business combination
The recoverable amount of the goodwill of R56.2 million due to the LAWtrust business combination is determined based on a 
discounted cash flow valuation of LAWtrust as the CGU. The calculation used pre-tax cash flow projections of the Company 
over a five-year period prepared by management and adjusted to reflect the latest available financial information, the 
discount rate calculated as part of the valuation of LAWtrust’s customer relationships; and the capex and change in net 
working capital forecast prepared by management.

The key assumptions applied in the valuation of LAWtrust are as follows:
•  Gross margin: 62%
•  Growth rate: 6%
•  Discount rate: 21%
•  Terminal growth rate: 6%

 Sensitivity analysis
Sensitivity analyses were performed to substantiate the recoverable amount of goodwill. Only when the discount rate was 
increased or the gross margin was dropped, as detailed below, was the goodwill calculated to be impaired:

Discount rate 
increase to 

%

Gross margin 
decrease to

%

On-board system products 26 19 
ODM 250 16 
DNS 108 13 
LAWtrust 37 52
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8.	 Investment	in	joint	venture	
 Joint venture

The Group holds 50% ownership interest in Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd, which principal place of business is South Africa. The joint 
venture is accounted for on the equity method, and is currently valued at a nominal value of R102. This investment is not 
considered to be a material joint venture in the Group.

%
Ownership 

interest

%
Ownership

interest
Carrying
 amount

Carrying 
amount

Name of company 2019 2018 2019 2018

Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd 50,00 – –* –

*		 Amount	below	R1	000.

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

9. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Deferred income tax liabilities
Prepayments (1 044) (365)
Retention debtors (12) (64)
Contract assets (631) (2 055)
Intangible assets (9 604) (6 719)
Property, plant and equipment (2 847) (3 037)

Total deferred tax liability (14 138) (12 240)

Deferred income tax asset
Provisions 4 991 5 741
Warranty provision 529 357
Operating leases 914 173
Contract liabilities 2 986 978
Calculated tax loss 16 363 14 549

Total deferred tax asset 25 783 21 798

Deferred tax liability (14 138) (12 240)
Deferred tax asset 25 783 21 798

Total net deferred tax asset 11 645 9 558

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)
At beginning of year 9 558 4 692
Prior year adjustment due to adoption of IFRS 9 1 488 –
Statement of comprehensive income change 4 460 4 866
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 39) (3 861) –

At end of year 11 645 9 558

The net amounts are expected to be recovered and settled as follows:
Deferred tax asset
– No more than 12 months after the reporting period 9 420 7 237
– More than 12 months after the reporting period 16 363 14 536
Deferred tax liabilities
– No more than 12 months after the reporting period (12 451) (2 459)
– More than 12 months after the reporting period (1 687) (9 756)

11 645 9 558
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In recent years Etion Limited has enhanced technical capability and made strategic investments to create capacity for the 
corporate office in a strategic bid to position the business for growth and improve its ability to take advantage of market 
opportunities. This has also included the development of new solutions that are pilot-ready in Etion Limited’s Safety and 
Productivity Solutions (SPS) segment, the business from which the assessed loss arises. Management has reviewed the three-
year budget and financial plan of the SPS segment and, based on the forecasted average revenue growth of 18% over a period 
of three years, with a potential of increasing the growth quantum to 23% and maintaining a 30% gross margin across the 
business, consider it probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses may be used. Furthermore, 
based on the projected profitability, the business has positioned itself towards achieving net profit margin after tax of 10% in the 
next three years. Therefore, management continues to consider it probable that the related deferred tax asset can be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority and there is a legal right of 
offset at settlement. The amounts disclosed in the statement of financial position are as follows:

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Non-current asset 20 945 14 722
Non-current liability (9 300) (5 164)

11 645 9 558

10. Other financial asset
Interest free borrowings
Tau di a Rora Technologies CC 1 010 1 010

This loan is unsecured, bears no interest and has no fixed term of repayment. The loan was made as part of the group’s BBBEE 
enterprise and supplier development programmes and is intended to assist in building sustainable and profitable suppliers 
that would be in a position to repay the loans at a later stage. It is anticipated that this repayment will not materialise within 
the next 12-month period and hence the loans are classified as non-current.

Management has performed an assessment of the recoverability the loan extended to Tau ai Rora Technologies at reporting 
date and has determined that the credit risk on the financial asset is immaterial. As such the Group has not raised a loss 
allowance against the loan, but will continue to monitor the credit risk associated with the asset and take action to impair if 
appropriate.

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

11. Inventories
Work in progress 3 595 16 003
Finished goods 87 500 77 585

91 095 93 588
Provision for slow moving inventories (3 546) (5 312)

87 549 88 276

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to  
R308.9 million (2018: R330.7 million).
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2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

12. Loan to related company
Joint venture
Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd 2 330 –

The loan is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand, however, management has 
no expectation to demand settlement of the loan within the next 12 months.

Split between non-current and current portions
Current assets 2 330 –

 Exposure to credit risk
Loans receivable inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur financial loss if 
counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

Loans receivable are subject to the impairment provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which requires a loss allowance to 
be recognised for all exposures to credit risk. The loss allowance for loans receivable is calculated based on lifetime expected 
credit losses under the general model. The loss allowance is updated at each reporting date based on changes in the credit 
risk since initial recognition. If a loan is considered to have a low credit risk at the reporting date, then it is assumed that the 
credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loans to related companies were valued based on the risk of the counterparty. The Moody’s RiskCalc solution was used to 
calculate a PD and LGD for the counterparty. The resultant PD and LGD was then converted from Through The Cycle to Point 
in Time measures using Moody’s Analytics ImpairmentCalc product, which conditioned these measures based on a database 
of validated historic South Africa macroeconomic data and then calculates a forward-looking ECL using their macroeconomic 
forecasts with a probability weighted average of Moody’s Analytics’ economic forecasts and scenarios – Baseline, Stronger 
Near-Term Rebound (S1), and Moderate Recession (S3), weighted 40%, 30% and 30%.

The estimation techniques explained have been applied for the first time in the current financial period, which is the first time 
the Group has applied IFRS 9.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the gross carrying amount of the loans. The Group does not hold collateral or other 
credit enhancements against loans receivable.

 Credit loss allowances 

Gross 
loan

Expected 
credit loss

Net 
loan

2019
Total credit loss allowances
Loan to joint venture 2 350 (20) 2 330
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2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

13. Trade and other receivables
Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 164 505 129 833
Loss allowance (9 062) (855)

Trade receivables at amortised cost 155 443 128 978
Deposits 1 034 1 166
Retention debtors 44 228
Other receivables 730 –
Sundry debtors 867 784
Non-financial instruments:
Receiver of Revenue – VAT 37 882
Accrued income – 7 337
Employee costs in advance 59 112
Prepayments 5 416 1 303

Total trade and other receivables 163 630 140 790

Split between non-current and current portions
Current assets 163 630 140 790
Categorisation of trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in accordance with  
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
At amortised cost 158 118 131 156
Non-financial instruments 5 512 9 634

163 630 140 790

The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate the cost due to the short-term nature of the receivables.

As of 31 March 2018, under the IAS 39 incurred credit loss model, trade receivables of R0.85 million were provided for at Group 
level. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

2018 
R’000

More than six months 855

As of 31 March 2018 trade receivables of R48.769 million were past due but not impaired. These relate  
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing  
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:
Up to three months 30 824
Between three and six months 14 400
More than six months 3 545

48 769

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
Opening balance 1 606
Unused amounts reversed (751)

Closing balance 855
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13. Trade and other receivables (continued)
The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Refer to note 4 for trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies.

Debtors serve as security for the group’s overdraft facilities (2018: invoice discounting facility) (note 14).

 Exposure to credit risk
Trade receivables inherently expose the Group to credit risk, being the risk that the Group will incur financial loss if customers 
fail to make payments as they fall due.

A loss allowance is recognised for all trade receivables, in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and is monitored  
at the end of each reporting period. In addition to the loss allowance, trade receivables are written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery, for example, when a debtor has been placed under liquidation. Trade receivables which 
have been written off are not subject to enforcement activities.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables by applying the simplified approach which is prescribed by  
IFRS 9. In accordance with this approach, the loss allowance on trade receivables is determined as the lifetime expected credit 
losses on trade receivables. These lifetime expected credit losses are using the Moody’s Analytics Credit Loss and Impairment 
Analysis Suite, the results of which are presented below. The calculation has been developed by making use of past default 
experience of debtors, but also incorporates forward-looking information and general economic conditions of the industry  
as at the reporting date.

The estimation techniques explained have been applied for the first time in the current financial period, as a result of the 
adoption of IFRS 9. Trade receivables were previously impaired only when there was objective evidence that the asset was 
impaired. The impairment was calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the 
expected future cash flows.

The customer base is segmented into groups that are considered to exhibit similar credit risks and behaviour. Specific exposures 
are evaluated separately and where relevant given different ECLs. Methods used for these, include use of published ratings 
adjusted as appropriate, calculation of PD and LDG using Moody’s Analytics’ RiskCalc SA company financial statement model 
and database and/or alternate techniques, including decision trees, that take into account specific circumstances. Concentrated 
positions including material account balances or atypical customer’s are provided with separate ECL’s where appropriate. The 
loss allowance provision is determined as follows:

Trade receivables – expected credit loss 
result 2019

Balance 
sheet total

R’000
Measurement 
approach

Judgemental 
ECL before 

forward 
adjustment

Conversion 
to forward-

looking ECL
ECL 

R’000
Net 

R’000

South African trade receivables ex specific 
exposures 80 946 

Empirical 
historical data 
with 
judgemental 
overlay

0.393% – 0.711% – (3 852) 77 098
3.347% 6.365%

Specific exposure 76 732 
Moody’s Investor 
rating – 0.490% – (4 843) 71 885

16.900%
Foreign exposure 6 827 Domestic trade 

receivables  
ex specific 
exposures with 
judgemental 
overlay 1.000% 7.942% (367) 6 460

Total 164 505 (9 062) 155 443
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Trade receivables – expected credit loss 
result 2018

Balance 
sheet total

R’000
Measurement 
approach

Judgemental
ECL before 

forward 
adjustment

Conversion 
to forward-

looking ECL
ECL 

R’000
Net 

R’000

South African trade receivables ex specific 
exposure 39 074 

Empirical 
historical data 
with 
judgemental 
overlay

0.140% – 0.127% – (486) 38 588
2.950% 3.199%

Specific exposures 46 064 Moody’s Investor 
services rating

0.111% – 0.126% – (2 979) 43 085
5.800% 2.390%

Foreign exposures 44 695 Domestic trade 
receivables ex 
specific 
exposures with 
judgemental 
overlay

1.000% 7.942% (2 700) 41 995

Total 129 833 (6 165) 123 668

 Reconciliation of loss allowances
The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses) for trade and other receivables:

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Opening balance in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments:  
Recognition and Measurement (855) (1 606)
Adjustments upon application of IFRS 9 (5 310) –

Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9 (6 165) (1 606)
Impairment raised (all on existing debtors) (4 067) –
Impairment utilised – –
Impairment reversal 1 170 751

Closing balance (9 062) (855)

14. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 49 27
Bank balances 46 501 50 773
Short-term deposits 3 706 –
Credit card 355 –
Bank overdraft (13 133) (9 546)

37 478 41 254

Current assets 50 611 50 800
Current liabilities (13 133) (9 546)

37 478 41 254

Refer to note 4 for bank accounts denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group has overdraft facilities of R50 million (2018: R20 million). The facilities are secured by the debtors of the individual 
companies making use of the facilities.

During the past financial year the Group changed its previous invoice discounting facility (comprising 80% of the debtors book 
at any given point capped at R10 000 000) to an additional overdraft facility of R15 000 000. The facility is secured by a cession 
of debtors (note 13).
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14. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
The extent of the company’s facilities with their bankers can be summarised as follows: 

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Overdraft facility 50 000 20 000
Corporate credit cards and fleet services cards 1 618 1 268
Combined Letter of Guarantee and Forward Exchange Cover facility 7 605 13 360
Revolving Credit Line facility 17 000 18 307
Invoice Discounting facility – 10 000
Issued Letter of Performance Guarantee 3 195 301
Vehicle asset finance facilities 3 289 –
Maintenance lease 136 –

82 843 63 236

15. Share capital
Authorised
1 725 490 496 authorised no par value ordinary shares
Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Opening balance 461 038 321 461 038 321
Number of shares issued during the year 103 372 712 –

Closing balance 564 411 033 461 038 321

Issued
Ordinary 259 541 212 141

The shares have no par value and the issued shares are fully paid. Each issued share has one voting right and there are  
no restrictions.

On 27 September 2018 an ordinary resolution was passed, by way of general authority, to issue all or any of the authorised  
but unissued shares in the capital of the Company for cash, subject to the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company,  
the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the JSE Listings Requirements, when applicable.

On 7 November 2018 Etion Limited issued 70 000 000 shares at 39 cents per share raising an amount of R27.3 million.  
The general issue was implemented at a 3.8% discount to the 30-day weighted average traded price of Etion shares for  
the 30 business days preceding the date that the price of the issue, under the general authority, was agreed.

Refer to note 39 for information regarding shares issued as part of the LAWtrust transaction.

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

16. Interest-bearing borrowings
Instalment sales agreements
Minimum payments due
– no later than one year 3 442 3 667
– later than one year and no later than five years 4 014 7 443

7 456 11 110
Less: future finance charges (850) (1 701)

Present value of minimum payments 6 606 9 409

Present value of minimum payments due
– no later than one year 2 894 2 827
– later than one year and no later than five years 3 712 6 582

6 606 9 409

The instalment sale agreements bear interest at prime and are repayable in average monthly 
instalments of R233 499 (2018: R343 450) over an average period of 60 months.

Secured by plant and equipment and motor vehicles with a book value of 9 525 10 678
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2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

The interest rate exposure of borrowings of the group is as follows:
Instalment sale agreement
At floating rates (average %) 10.70% 10.20%

Property loan: Senior debt Minimum payments due
– no later than one year 3 829 3 890
– later than one year and no later than five years 39 199 15 741
– later than five years – 14 510
Less: future finance charges (13 151) (11 301)

Present value of minimum payments 29 877 22 840

Present value of minimum payments
– no later than one year 622 1 634
– later than one year and no later than five years 29 255 8 865
– later than five years – 12 341

29 877 22 840

In the prior year the interest rate was fixed at 10.43% for the first three years and in July 2018 
became variable at prime less 0.5%.

In the current financial year, the senior debt loan and mezzanine loan from the prior year  
was settled and a new loan was obtained from Nedbank for a new five-year term. The new  
loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 10.76% and is repayable in average monthly instalments  
of R356 739 with a lump sum of R24 114 607 payable at the end of the five-year period. In the  
prior year the average repayment on the senior debt loan was R327 230 per month over a 
period of 120 months.

Secured by property situated at 76 Regency Drive, Route 21 Corporate Park with a cost of: 30 220 30 525

The interest rate exposure of borrowings of the Group is as follows:
Senior debt loan agreement
At fixed rate % 10.76% 10.43%

Mezzanine loan agreement
Total loan amount – 5 000

At floating rates of prime plus 2% – 12.00%

The mezzanine finance of R5 million, with interest payable monthly at a rate of prime  
plus 2% and a profit share amount of R3 million (payable after the three-year period), was 
repaid to Nedbank Ltd during the current financial year. This liability was accrued for  
in accruals in note 17.

Nedbank loan
Minimum payments due
– no later than one year 49 354 –
– later than one year and no later than five years – –
Less: future finance charges (9 345) –

Present value of minimum payments 40 009 –

Present value of minimum payments
– no later than one year 40 009 –
– later than one year and no later than five years – –
– later than five years – –

40 009 –

The loan bears interest at prime plus 0.25% and is repayable in monthly instalments of R961 713 over a period of 60 months.

Secured by limited deeds of cross-suretyship, for the amount of R112 million in favour of Nedbank between Etion Limited, Etion 
Connect (Pty) Ltd, Etion Create (Pty) Ltd and Lawtrust Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd. 

A security cession of all present and future debtors.
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16. Interest-bearing borrowings (continued)
The interest rate exposure of borrowings of the group is as follows:

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Nedbank loan
At variable rate % (prime) 10.25% –

Actual Target

The following financial covenants must be met in respect to the Nedbank loan:
– Interest-bearing debt to tangible net worth 1.98 1.75
– Annual cash-to-debt service cover 1.18 1.30
– Cumulative cash-to-debt service ratio 3.39 1.80

The performance recorded by the Group for the current financial year has resulted in the 
breach of the annual cash-to-debt service cover loan covenant under the Nedbank loan facility 
within Etion Limited. This is yet to be confirmed by the bank. However, management has 
alerted the bank and is in early conversations to revise this covenant. As a result, the facility has 
been classified as current at reporting date.

Total liability
Current liability 43 522 9 461
Non-current liability 32 968 27 788

76 490 37 249

17. Trade and other payables
Financial instruments:
Trade payables 92 595 80 215
Accrued expenses 17 060 10 728
Sundry creditors 695 188
Non-financial instruments:
Prepayments received 5 955 –
Leave accrual 6 671 3 414
Receiver of Revenue – VAT 7 168 2 691
Billings in excess of earnings and prepayments received – 12 302
Operating lease straight-line adjustment 2 031 617

132 175 110 155

Exposure to interest rate risk
Trade and other payables are settled in South African Rand, except where the payable  
is denominated in a foreign currency. Refer to note 4 for the outstanding liabilities  
denominated in foreign currencies at year end.

18. Contract assets/liabilities
Contract liabilities relating to sale of design, development and project services (15 192) –

Split between non-current and current portions
Non-current liabilities (274) –
Current liabilities (14 918) –

Total contract liabilities (15 192) –

Contract assets
Contract assets relating to sale of design, development and project services 18 927 –

The comparatives for these amounts are included in trade and other receivables (refer to note 13) and trade and other payables 
(refer to note 17).
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(i)	 Significant	changes	in	contract	assets	and	liabilities
Contract assets relate to work performed and material procured on a number of contracts that were still in the process of 
being completed at year end. The number of contracts in progress have reduced when compared to the prior financial year. 
Management has performed an assessment of the recoverability of these contract assets at reporting date and has 
determined that the credit risk on these financial assets is low and has not increased significantly since initial recognition. 
The Group has therefore not recognised a loss allowance for contract assets as this was determined to be immaterial.

Contract liabilities have increased due to new service level agreements initiated during the 2019 financial year.

(ii) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried forward 
contract liabilities.

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning  
of the period:
Sale of design, development and project services 11 453 –

(iii)	 Unsatisfied	contracts
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from unsatisfied contracts:

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to long-term design, development and 
project services contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at 31 March 15 192 –

Management expects that 96% of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 March 2019 will be 
recognised as revenue during the next reporting period (R14.918 million). The remaining 2% (R274 005) will be recognised in 
the 2021 financial year.

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these 
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

19. Provisions
 Reconciliation of provisions – 2019

Opening
 balance

Provision
 raised

Utilised 
during

 the year

Reversed 
during 

the year Total

Provision for warranty 1 277 43 (187) – 1 133
Provision for product fleet defect 4 111 – (604) (2 750) 757

5 388 43 (791) (2 750) 1 890

 Reconciliation of provisions – 2018

Opening
 balance

Provision
 raised

Reversed 
during 

the year Total

Provision for warranty 1 186 1 041 (950) 1 277
Provision for product fleet defect – 4 111 – 4 111

1 186 5 152 (950) 5 388
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19. Provisions (continued)
 Provision for warranty

The provision for warranty claims on products sold and delivered was calculated on a project specific basis as the revenue on 
the product are recognised. A 3 – 7% failure rate and the estimated production and material cost was used to calculate the 
provision. The warranty claim is valid for a 12-month period.

Information that is typically considered is whether there is back-to-back warranty cover from the supplier on the products as 
well as material failure rate from historical information.

	 Provision	for	product	fleet	defect
The Group’s performance in the prior year was negatively impacted by a fleet defect at one of the Group’s rail clients. The process 
to replace the units with an internally designed and manufactured unit has commenced and is expected to be completed within 
the next 12 months.

Based on the contract with the rail client a present obligation exists to replace products previously delivered with new units.

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

20. Tax paid
Balance at beginning of year 5 513 (3 802)
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (7 819) (13 795)
Subsidiary acquired during the year (2 375) –
Balance at end of year (6 596) (5 513)

(11 277) (23 110)

21. Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers
Sale of finished goods 308 851 270 421
Sale of goods manufactured 125 812 176 569
Sale of design, development and project services 68 746 100 290
Sale of network installation, support and maintenance services 11 655 25 282
Sale of licences 36 970 –
Support and maintenance services 43 905 –

595 939 572 562

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time
Sale of finished goods 308 851 270 421
Sale of goods manufactured 125 812 176 569
Sale of licences 80 875 –

515 538 446 990

Over time
Sale of design, development and project services 68 746 100 290
Sale of network installation, support and maintenance services 11 655 25 282

80 401 125 572

Total revenue from contracts with customers 595 939 572 562

22. Cost of sales
Sale of design, development and project services 48 122 77 495
Sale of finished goods 217 008 197 745
Sale of goods manufactured 88 068 120 655
Sale of licences 25 879 –
Support and maintenance services 30 734 –
Sale of network installation, support and maintenance services 8 159 14 685
Product recall and fleet defect expenses (2 750) –
Write down of inventories to net realisable value 138 (292)
Reversal of write down of inventories to net realisable value (32) 91

415 326 410 379

 



51    ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

Note(s)
2019 

R’000
2018 

R’000

23. Other operating income
Sundry income 1 373 2 040
Bad debts recovered 137 236
Recoveries from joint venture  3 367 –

4 877 2 276

24. Other operating (losses)/gains
Losses	on	disposals,	scrappings	and	settlements
Property, plant and equipment 6 (13) –

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – held-for-trading
Fair value losses: unrealised – (1 791)
Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Fair value gains: realised 6 418 6 919
Fair value gains: unrealised 75 4 950
Fair value losses: realised (4 780) (227)
Fair value losses: unrealised (10 669) (2 002)

(8 956) 7 849

Total other operating (losses)/gains (8 956) 7 849

25. Expenses by nature
Advertising and marketing 6 841 4 935
Amortisation 12 244 7 727
BBBEE related expenses 2 785 5 087
Depreciation 7 443 6 439
Donations 91 638
Employee benefit expense 176 761 131 485
Entertainment 1 001 942
Hedging costs 1 390 5 294
Installation and subcontractor costs 5 056 17 114
Insurance 2 094 1 110
Motor vehicle expenses 1 387 1 346
Movement in inventory (9 915) (12 824)
Operating building lease rentals and municipal costs 5 852 8 696
Other expenses 1 666 1 180
Personnel cost – training 2 190 2 589
Professional and computer services and costs 1 946 7 892
Project-related travel and wages 9 722 744
Provision for expected credit losses 2 897 –
Purchases of raw materials and consumables used 342 554 338 457
Repairs and maintenance expenditure 1 484 2 896
Research costs 224 474
Skills development levy 392 937
Subscriptions 2 015 1 636
Travel and accommodation – local 1 790 493
Travel and accommodation – overseas 1 776 879

581 686 536 166
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2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

26. Employee costs
Employee costs
Salary and wages 153 277 113 743
Directors’ remuneration 23 484 17 742

Total employee benefit expense 176 761 131 485

Post retirement benefit: defined contribution plan (included in employee benefits above) 10 765 9 065
Number of employees at the end of the year 350 280

27. Finance income
Bank 1 717 1 975

28. Finance costs
Interest-bearing borrowings 6 594 1 210
Bank overdraft 4 084 4 869
Other 584 64

Total finance costs 11 262 6 143

29. Taxation
Major	components	of	the	tax	expense
Current
Local income tax – current period 7 819 13 795

Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences (8 581) (4 866)
Arising from prior year overprovision of deferred tax 4 121 –

(4 460) (4 866)

3 359 8 929

Reconciliation of the tax expense
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would  
arise using the basic tax rate of South Africa as follows:
Accounting profit 629 42 353
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2018: 28%) 176 11 859
Tax	effect	of	adjustments	on	taxable	income
Donations, fines and penalties 131 224
Other expenses not deductible 648 348
Learnership allowances (2 895) (3 444)
Other differences – (58)
Business combination costs 1 475 –
Prior year overprovision of deferred tax 4 121 –
Section 11D allowances (297) –

3 359 8 929

The estimated tax loss available for set off against future taxable income is R58 439 (2018: R43 406).



53    ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

30. Cash generated from operations
Profit before taxation 629 42 353
Adjustments	for:
Depreciation and amortisation 19 687 14 166
Interest income (1 717) (1 975)
Finance costs 11 262 6 143
Increase in provision for slow moving and obsolete raw materials (1 766) 91
Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of trade receivables 3 204 (751)
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 13 198
Operating lease straight-line adjustment 1 414 617
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions (3 498) 4 202
Unrealised foreign exchange differences – cash and bank equivalents 7 162 (4 522)
Unrealised foreign exchange differences – debtors (66) 1 475
Unrealised foreign exchange differences – trade creditors 3 499 1 888
Changes in working capital:
Inventories (6 474) 12 732
Trade and other receivables 6 455 (17 522)
Contract assets (1 131) –
Trade and other payables (7 256) (58 405)
Contract liabilities 2 353 –

33 770 690

31. Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments
 Executive directors – paid by Etion LIMITED

Basic 
salary
R’000

Medical 
aid

R’000

Retirement 
contribution

R’000
Total

R’000

2019
T Daka 2 491 136 110 2 737
AR van der Watt 299 38 93 430
EC De Kock 1 888 – 358 2 246

Total paid by Etion 4 678 174 561 5 413

2018
T Daka 2 123 175 98 2 396
AR van der Watt 1 245 155 394 1 794
EC De Kock 434 5 90 529

Total paid by Etion 3 802 335 582 4 719
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31. Directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments (continued)
 Non-executive

Fees paid 
to directors 
for services

R’000

2019
NS Mjoli-Mncube 399
SP Mzimela 165
CP Bester 308
N Medupe 223
Dr SJ Khoza 238
M Janse van Rensburg 98
R Willis 76

Total paid by Etion 1 507

2018
NS Mjoli-Mncube 383
SP Mzimela 221
CP Bester 239
N Medupe 234
Dr SJ Khoza 229

Total paid by Etion 1 306

 Paid by subsidiaries

Basic 
salary
R’000

Medical 
aid

R’000

Retirement
 contribution

R’000

Bonus and 
performance- 

related 
payments

R’000
Total

R’000

2019
PC Pelser 1 383 129 352 – 1 864
R Fullard 1 209 – 108 – 1 317
EAF Bielich 894 55 168 – 1 117
DT van Loggerenberg 943 90 284 – 1 317
F de Wet 1 163 41 108 – 1 312
BC Lamprecht 1 292 88 156 – 1 536
ML Kamoetie 268 – 63 – 331
MM Massyn-Loubser 1 017 – 38 – 1 055
CF Maherry 2 245 – 168 – 2 413
M Maherry 1 514 – 38 – 1 552
K Seripe 1 882 143 206 519 2 750

13 810 546 1 689 519 16 564

2018
PC Pelser 1 194 118 351 312 1 975
R Fullard 1 261 – 113 168 1 542
EAF Bielich 947 55 164 151 1 317
DT van Loggerenberg 981 101 292 177 1 551
F de Wet 1 215 42 113 177 1 547
BC Lamprecht 1 298 82 127 196 1 703
ML Kamoetie 688 – 180 – 868
MM Massyn-Loubser 1 178 – 36 – 1 214

Total paid by subsidiary 8 762 398 1 376 1 181 11 717
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Total
 shares 

2019 
number

 Weighted 
shares

2019 
number

Total 
shares 

2018 
number

Weighted
 shares 

2018 
number

32. Earnings per share
Total and weighted shares
Number of shares in issue
Opening balance 461 038 321 461 038 321 461 038 321 461 038 321
Shares issued during the year 103 372 712 54 999 252 – –

Closing balance 564 411 033 516 037 573 461 038 321 461 038 321

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to ordinary shareholders
Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (2 730) 33 473
Weighted average number of shares in issue 516 037 573 461 038 321

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to ordinary shareholders (cents) (0.53) 7.26

Headline and diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share attributable to ordinary 
shareholders
Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (2 730) 33 473
Non-headline items after tax:
Loss on the sale of property, plant and equipment 13 198
Total tax effect of adjustments (4) (55)

Headline and diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share attributable to  
ordinary shareholders (2 721) 33 616

Weighted average number of shares in issue 516 037 573 461 038 321

Headline and diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share attributable to  
ordinary shareholders (cents) (0.53) 7.29

33. Commitments under operating leases
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Leased property
Within one year 5 052 3 412
Later than one year but within five years 25 167 11 960
Later than five years 16 004 31 065

46 223 46 437

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense during the year 3 757 1 994
Motor vehicles
Within one year – 46
Later than one year but within five years – –

– 46

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense during the year 171 756

Office equipment
Within one year 462 283
Later than one year but within five years 735 767

1 197 1 050

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense during the year 191 252
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34. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The directors have reviewed the Group’s budget and cash flow forecasts for the year ending March 2020, which include certain 
assumptions about the cash flows from planned and unplanned projects and raising additional funding when required. On this 
basis and in light of the Group’s current financial position, the directors are satisfied that the Group will continue to operate for 
the foreseeable future and have therefore adopted the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

35. Company financial statements
The separate annual financial statements of the Company Etion Limited is available on the Company website.

36. Fair value hierarchy
Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed at fair value in the statement of financial position are categorised in its entirety 
into the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the  
fair value measurement in its entirety:
• Level 1: Fair value measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial assets or liabilities.
• Level 2:  Fair value measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
• Level 3: Fair value measured using inputs for the financial asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

For fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as held for trading and available-for-sale securities) is 
based on quoted market prices at the financial year-end date. The quoted market price for financial assets held by the Group is 
the current bid price. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using the quoted forward exchange rates at 
the financial year-end date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

The fair value of financial liabilities categorised as “other financial liabilities” and financial assets categorised as “financial assets 
at amortised cost” is determined in accordance with general accepted pricing models comprising discounted cash flow 
analysis. The fair value of derivative financial assets (e.g. forward exchange contracts) is based on a level 2 in the fair value 
measurement hierarchy.

The carrying values of non-current financial assets and liabilities at market-related floating rates approximate fair value and are 
classified as level 3.

Where the effects of discounting are immaterial, short-term receivables and short-term payables are measured at the original 
invoice amount. Due to the short-term nature of trade receivables and trade payables their carrying amounts approximate 
their fair value.

37. Segmental information
The segmental information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments, which defines the 
requirements of the disclosure of financial information of an entity’s operating segments.

	 Identification	of	reportable	segments
During the current financial year the Etion Group completed the acquisition of LAWtrust as of 1 June 2018. It is now the fourth of 
our operating businesses and strengthens our thrust into markets aligned to our strategy.

We rebranded from Ansys to Etion with the name changed on the JSE on 13 July 2018. The rebrand reflects our strategy and 
positioning to exploit Industry 4.0 opportunities and to be an iconic digital technology solutions provider that turns ideas into 
solutions that advance the living and working environments of humanity.

Four reportable segments have been established: Etion Digitise: Safety and Productivity Solutions; Etion Connect: Digital 
Network Solutions; Etion Create: Original Design Manufacturing, and Etion Secure: Cyber Security Solutions.

The Group discloses its reportable segments according to the Group’s components that management monitors regularly in 
making decisions about the operating matters.

	 Measurement	of	operating	segment	profit	or	loss,	assets	and	liabilities
Segment information is prepared in conformity with the basis that is reported to the Executive Committee in assessing 
segment performance and allocating resources to segments. These values have been reconciled to the annual consolidated 
financial statements. The basis reported by the Group is in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and 
presenting the annual consolidated financial statements and is consistent with the prior year.

Segment assets and liabilities have been allocated using the same principles in allocating the segment profit and loss. This entails 
assets and liabilities being allocated, as far as possible-directly to the segments they relate to and the remaining assets and 
liabilities in the entities apportioned to segments based on the gross profit contribution of each segment.

Intersegment transactions are eliminated on a gross basis. Segment expenses include direct and allocated expenses.

Due to the increase in intersegment transactions during the current financial year, the Group has revised the manner in which 
it reports segment information for the four business segments. Intersegment transactions are now eliminated on a gross basis 
and not directly from the results of the business segment to which they relate. The comparative information for the 2018 
financial year has been restated.
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 Reportable segments
During the year the Group conducted operations in four main business areas: Safety and Productivity Solutions (SPS); Digital 
Network Solutions (DNS); Original Design Manufacturing (ODM), and Cyber Security. 

 Information about geographical areas
The Group operates primarily in South Africa. The Group revenue earned in South Africa is R552.943 million  
(2018: R469.135 million) and earned from other countries is R42.455 million (2018: R103.426 million), resulting mostly  
from business in the UAE region. All of the Groups’ assets and liabilities are located in South Africa. Revenue in the  
region of 24% (2018: 20%) of total revenue for the DNS segment was derived from a single external customer.

SPS
R’000

ODM
R’000

DNS
R’000

Cyber
 security

R’000
Eliminations

R’000
Corporate

R’000
Total

R’000

2019
Revenue
Resale of finished goods 74 902 – 234 691 – (742) – 308 851
Sale of goods manufactured – 160 872 – 17 756 (52 816) – 125 812
Sale of design, development 
and project services 20 917 45 693 – 8 336 (6 200) – 68 746
Sale of network  
installation services – – 12 057 – (402) – 11 655
Sale of licences – – – 80 875 – – 80 875
Segment expenses (96 216) (191 447) (226 279) (104 555) 85 539 – (532 958)
Segment other income – 5 692 201 3 494 (4 510) – 4 877
Segment other  
operating losses (437) (622) (7 403) (494) – – (8 956)

Results
Segment profit (834) 20 188 13 267 5 412 20 869 – 58 902
Corporate expenses – – – – – (48 728) (48 728)

Operating profit  10 174

Finance income – – – – – 1 717 1 717
Finance costs – – – – – (11 262) (11 262)

Profit before tax 629
Taxation – – – – – – (3 359)

Profit for the year – – – – – – (2 730)
Sales to external customers 95 078 154 272 239 633 106 956 – – 595 939

Financial position  
Assets 93 185 205 108 162 904 119 045 – 12 202 592 444
Liabilities 30 485 80 807 69 140 29 987 – 38 731 249 150

SPS
R’000

ODM
R’000

DNS
R’000

Eliminations
R’000

Corporate
R’000

Total
R’000

2018*
Revenue
– Resale of finished goods 29 933 – 251 566 (11 078) – 270 421
– Sale of goods manufactured – 183 287 – (6 718) – 176 569
–  Sale of design, development  

and project services 47 102 52 488 – 700 – 100 290
–  Sale of network  

installation services – – 25 982 (700) – 25 282
Segment expenses (83 590) (221 132) (246 744) 25 992 – (525 474)
Segment other (expense)/income (1 175) 14 545 576 (1 940) – 12 006
Segment other operating (losses)/gains (546) 9 187 (792) – – 7 849

Results
Segment profit (8 276) 38 375 30 588 6 256 – 66 943
Corporate expenses – – – – (20 422) (20 422)
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37. Segmental information (continued)

SPS ODM DNS Eliminations Corporate Total

Operating profit 46 521
Finance income – – – – 1 975 1 975
Finance costs – – – – (6 143) (6 143)

Profit before tax 42 353
Taxation – – – – – (8 929)

Profit for the year 33 424

Financial position
Assets 91 570 235 627 142 645 – 106 469 948
Liabilities 24 922 97 108 45 470 – 2 167 502

*  In the prior period the 2018 segment results were stated as follows:

SPS ODM DNS Corporate Total

2018
Revenue
– Segment sales 77 035 229 058 266 469 – 572 562
– Segment expenses (80 700) (206 703) (238 071) – (525 474)
– Segment forex profit/(loss) (546) 9 187 (792) – 7 849

Results
– Segment profit (4 211) 31 542 27 606 – 54 937
– Corporate expenses – – – (8 416) (8 416)

Operating profit 46 521
Finance income – – – 1 975 1 975
Finance costs – – – (6 143) (6 143)

Profit before tax 42 353
Taxation – – – – (8 929)

Profit for the year 33 424

Financial position
Assets 91 570 235 627 142 645 106 469 948
Liabilities 24 922 97 108 45 470 2 167 502

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

38. Net debt reconciliation
Net debt
Cash and cash equivalents 50 611 50 800
Borrowings – repayable within one year (including overdraft) (56 655) (19 007)
Borrowings – repayable after one year (32 968) (27 788)

Net debt (39 012) 4 005

Cash and cash equivalents 50 611 50 800
Gross debt – fixed interest rates (40 009) (22 840)
Gross debt – variable interest rates (49 614) (23 955)

Net debt (39 012) 4 005
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Cash
R’000

Borrowings 
due within 

one year
R’000

Borrowings 
due after 
one year

R’000
Total

R’000

Net debt as at 31 March 2018 50 800 (19 007) (27 788) 4 005
Cash flows 6 973 21 152 652 28 777
New borrowings raised – (8 683) (49 355) (58 038)
Interest charged – (6 594) – (6 594)
Foreign exchange adjustment (7 162) – – (7 162)
Transfer to current borrowings – (43 523) 43 523 –

Net debt as at 31 March 2019 50 611 (56 655) (32 968) (39 012)

Net debt as at 31 March 2017 79 291 (5 267) (36 602) 37 422
Cash flows (33 013) (5 898) – (38 911)
New borrowings raised – 297 675 972
Foreign exchange adjustment 4 522 – – 4 522
Transfer to current borrowings – (8 139) 8 139 –

Net debt as at 31 March 2018 50 800 (19 007) (27 788) 4 005

39. Business combinations 
 Acquisition of LAWtrust

On 1 June 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Law Trusted Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd (LAWtrust).

LAWtrust is an information technology developer and provider of cyber/information security solutions. The acquisition of 
LAWtrust will enhance Etion’s current cyber security business by introducing strategically aligned products and by providing 
access to new markets which, in turn, will provide significant annuity revenue. The acquired business contributed revenues of 
R106.425 million and net profit of R3.543 million to the Group for the period from 1 June 2018 to 31 March 2019.

The acquired business would have contributed revenue of R139.538 million and net profit of R7.169 million for the full  
2019 financial year had it been part of the Group since 1 April 2018.

 Fair value of purchase consideration
2019 

R’000

Shares issued (33 372 712 shares at 60.22885 cents per share) 20 100
Cash consideration 88 400
Deferred purchase consideration 1 000 

Total purchase consideration 109 500

The fair value of assets acquired comprise:
Property, plant and equipment 3 131
Deferred tax (3 962)
Inventory 956
Loan to related company 2 350
Trade and other receivables – net of ECL 45 060
Cash and cash equivalents 26 297
Current tax payable (2 375)
Trade and other payables (36 721)
Intangible assets 18 564

Total fair value of assets acquired 53 300
Goodwill 56 200

Total purchase consideration 109 500

The initial purchase consideration of R108.5 million was made up as follows:
• R88.4 million payable in cash; and
• R20.1 million payable by the issue of 33 372 712 Etion shares at 60.22885 cents per share.
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39. Business combinations (continued)
The founders of LAWtrust received 75% of their payment consideration in Etion shares and 25% of their consideration in cash 
while the remaining shareholders, all external to the business, received 100% of their consideration in cash.

As reported in the 30 October 2017 circular, prior to the effective date, the LAWtrust sellers were entitled to receive a 
maximum pre-effective date distribution of R10 million (Distribution) which was due to be paid by LAWtrust into an escrow 
account before the effective date of the transaction and after the fulfilment of the conditions precedent specified below.

The payment of the distribution to the sellers was subject to the following:
•  LAWtrust achieving a minimum audited net profit after tax (Minimum Audited NPAT) for the year ending 31 March 2018 of 

R14 million; and
• LAWtrust having a minimum cash balance (Minimum Audited Cash Balance) of R25 million as at 31 March 2018.

In the event that the Minimum Audited NPAT and Minimum Audited Cash Balance amounts have not been met, the Distribution 
to the sellers shall be reduced by the shortfall between the actual audited net profit after tax for the year ending 31 March 2018 
and the Minimum Audited NPAT and by the shortfall between the actual audited cash balance for the year ending 31 March 2018 
and the Minimum Audited Cash Balance, before distribution to the sellers. Any Distribution not distributed to the sellers was to 
be paid to Etion.

Based on LAWtrust’s actual performance recorded prior to the effective date, the abovementioned conditions were not 
fulfilled and the proposed distribution was not implemented. It was agreed that Etion would pay an amount of R1 million to 
the sellers as additional purchase consideration. This was paid on 14 November 2018.

The purchase price was funded by a combination of debt, shares and internal cash resources.

The total number of Etion shares issued to the sellers was 33 372 712, which were all issued on 15 June 2018. Refer to the 
business combination in the statement of changes in equity.

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets has been allocated to the following asset:
• Goodwill

The goodwill of R56.2 million comprises the value arising from the acquisition of solution and product offerings of the 
LAWtrust business, including deferred tax and employees, which is not separately identifiable and recognised. Therefore, it 
does not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset under IAS 38. LAWtrust was one of the first accredited 
authentication service providers in the country, and the only accredited private company to provide advanced electronic 
signature solutions. It is legally qualified to be a certificate authority and has a trust centre which is able to create, issue and 
revoke advanced digital certificates. LAWtrust owns and develops its own intellectual property which it uses in combination 
with third-party solutions to deliver services to its clients. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for 
income tax purposes.

As a result of the business acquisition, the Group recognised customer relationships and brands of R15.847 million and 
computer software of R2.717 million.

Management applied the following valuation models to value the intangible assets:
• Income approach for customer relationships; and
• Royalty relief method for brands.

The key assumptions applied in the valuation models are as follows:
• Income approach:

– Revenue growth rate of 6%
– Discount rate of 20.6%

• Royalty relief method:
– Royalty rate of 1.3%.

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from operating activities) (5 119) –
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing activities) (63 103) –

Transaction costs of R5.119 million were expensed and are included in administrative expenses.
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40. Related parties 

Relationships

Subsidiaries (wholly owned) Redline Telecommunications SA (Pty) Ltd
Optelix (Pty) Ltd  
Etion Create (Pty) Ltd
Parsec Holdings (Pty) Ltd  
Parsec Properties (Pty) Ltd
Law Trusted Third Party Services (Pty) Ltd  
Etion Connect (Pty) Ltd
Quadsoft (Pty) Ltd

Joint venture Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd

Directors Refer to note 31 for details of the directors

2019 
R’000

2018 
R’000

Related party balances
Loan accounts – owing by related parties
Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd 2 330 –
Number of shares held directly by related parties
T Daka 45 062 745 45 062 745
CF Maherry 16 686 356 –
NS Mjoli-Mncube 220 877 220 877
Number of shares held indirectly by related parties
T Daka 102 674 375 102 674 375
NS Mjoli-Mncube 4 000 000 4 000 000
CP Bester 19 708 291 19 708 291
R Willis 1 390 435 –
AR van der Watt – 21 814 752
Related party transactions
Recoveries received from related parties
Electronic DNA (Pty) Ltd (3 367) –

41. Subsequent events
Nonhlanhla Mjoli-Mncube resigned as Chairperson of the Board on 31 May 2019 due to personal reasons. Dr Snowy Khoza has 
been appointed as Chairperson with effect from 1 June 2019.

Due to the breach of one of the Nedbank loan covenants, discussions have been initiated with the bank to renegotiate the 
covenant and remedy this breach. Refer to note 16.

As a proactive step-management has initiated the strategic review of the Safety and Productivity Solutions business with the 
objective of optimising its operations. This has been necessitated by the long procurement cycles and prevailing conditions 
within its target markets. 

Unrelated to the breach, Nedbank has advised that it will be reducing the revolving credit facility and limiting overdraft 
facilities across the Group to 33% of the debtor balance excluding intercompany balances and long outstanding debts greater 
than 120 days.

With the exception of the preceding matters, there are no other events which are material to the financial affairs of the Group.



ETION Annual Consolidated Financial Statements 2019    62

Shareholder analysis
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Number of 
shareholdings %

Number 
of shares %

Shareholder spread
1 – 1 000 shares  420 24.99  151 262 0.03
1 001 – 10 000 shares  515 30.64  2 441 094 0.43
10 001 – 100 000 shares  533 31.71  21 055 932 3.73
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  167 9.93  45 674 170 8.09
1 000 001 shares and over  46 2.74  495 088 575 87.72

Total 1 681 100.00 564 411 033 100.00

Distribution of shareholders
Banks/brokers 7 0.42 5 641 169 1.00
Close corporations 20 1.19 5 071 101 0.90
Endowment funds 1 0.06 338 0.00
Individuals 1 494 88.88 164 646 874 29.17
Insurance companies 1 0.06 1 685 236 0.30
Mutual funds 5 0.30 51 717 419 9.16
Nominees and trusts 1 0.06 60 000 0.01
Other corporations 9 0.54 789 551 0.14
Private companies 58 3.45 135 060 435 23.93
Private equity 1 0.06 70 000 000 12.40
Retirement funds 2 0.12 232 561 0.04
Trusts 82 4.88 129 506 349 22.95

Total 1 681 100.00 564 411 033 100.00

Public/non-public shareholders
Non-public shareholders 12 0.71 321 058 939 56.88
Directors and associates of the Company 7 0.42 189 743 079 33.62
Exco, subsidiary directors and management 4 0.24 61 315 860 10.86
Strategic holders holding more than 10% 1 0.06 70 000 000 12.40
Public shareholders 1 669 99.29 243 352 094 43.12

Total 1 681 100.00 564 411 033 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding 3% or more
Daka, T 147 737 120 26.18
Clive Douglas Investments (Conexus Capital Growth Fund) 70 000 000 12.40
Investec 28 183 269 4.99
Montshepetsa Boshego Family Trust 25 375 004 4.50
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Efficient Group 17 149 932 3.04

Total 351 783 120 62.33
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BREAKDOWN OF NON-PUBLIC HOLDINGS

Directors
Number 

of shares %

Daka,	T 147 737 120 26.18
Tedaka Investments (Pty) Ltd 102 674 375 18.19
Daka, T 45 062 745 7.98
Maherry,	CF 16 686 356 2.96
Maherry, CF 16 686 356 2.96
Willis,	RC 1 390 435 0.25
Willis Family Trust 1 390 435 0.25
Bester,	CP 19 708 291 3.49
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Mjoli-Mncube,	N 4 220 877 0.75
Eziko Investments 4 000 000 0.71
Mjoli-Mncube, N 220 877 0.04

Total 189 743 079 33.62

Subsidiary directors and management
Pelser,	P 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Van	Der	Watt,	AR 21 814 752 3.87
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Maherry,	M 16 686 356 2.96
Maherry, M 16 686 356 2.96
Lamprecht,	BC 1 000 000 0.18
Lamprecht, BC 1 000 000 0.18

Total 61 315 860 10.86

Strategic holders holding more than 10%
Conexus Capital Growth Fund 70 000 000 12.40

Total 70 000 000 12.40

BREAKDOWN OF BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 3% 
OR MORE

Beneficial shareholders
Number 

of shares %

Daka,	T 147 737 120 26.18
Tedaka Investments (Pty) Ltd 102 674 375 18.19
Daka, T 45 062 745 7.98
Clive Douglas Investments 70 000 000 12.40
Conexus Capital Growth Fund 70 000 000 12.40
Investec 28 183 269 4.99
Investec Wealth & Investment BCI Dynamic Equity Fund 28 183 269 4.99
Montshepetsa Boshego Family Trust 25 375 004 4.50
Montshepetsa Boshego Family Trust 25 375 004 4.50
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
CNR Trust 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
P&V Trust 21 814 752 3.87
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Coen Bester Trust 19 708 291 3.49
Efficient Group 17 149 932 3.04
Select BCI Equity Fund 17 149 932 3.04

Total 351 783 120 62.33
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

ETION LIMITED
(Previously known as Ansys Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
Registration number: 1987/115237/06
JSE share code: ETO
ISIN: ZAE000257739
(“ETION” or “the Company”)

Notice is hereby given of the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Etion Limited to be held at 85 Regency Drive, Route 21 
Corporate Park, Irene, Pretoria on 26 September 2019 at 10:00 (“the Annual General Meeting”).

Purpose
The purpose of the Annual General Meeting is to transact the business set out in the agenda below.

Agenda
• Presentation of the audited consolidated annual financial statements and separate annual financial statements of the Company, 

including the reports of the directors and the Audit and Risk Committee for the year ended 31 March 2019. The Integrated 
Annual Report, of which this notice forms part, contains the summarised Group financial statements and the aforementioned 
reports. The annual financial statements, including the unmodified audit opinion, are available on Etion Limited’s website at  
www.etion.co.za, or may be requested and obtained in person, at no charge, at the registered office of Etion Limited during 
office hours.

• To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without modification, the following ordinary and special resolutions below:

Report on the Social and Ethics Committee 
The Company’s Social and Ethics Committee report, included on page 85 of the Integrated Annual Report will serve as the Social 
and Ethics Committee’s report to the Company’s shareholders on the matters within its mandate at the Annual General Meeting. 
Any specific questions to the said committee may be sent to the Company Secretary prior to the Annual General Meeting,

Note:
For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 11 (inclusive) to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting rights exercised on each 
such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof. For ordinary resolution number 12 to be adopted, at least 75% of the 
voting rights exercised on such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof.

1.	 Retirement,	re-election	and	confirmation	of	appointment	of	directors
1.1 Ordinary resolution number 1

“RESOLVED that Snowy Joyce Khoza, who retires by rotation in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company 
and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director.”

1.2 Ordinary resolution number 2
“RESOLVED that Coenraad Petrus Bester, who retires by rotation in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the 
Company and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as director.”

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 1 to 2 (inclusive) is that the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (JSE) and, to the extent applicable, the South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008,  
as amended (the Companies Act), require that a component of the non-executive directors rotate at every Annual General 
Meeting of the Company and, being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election as directors. 

1.3 Ordinary resolution number 3
“RESOLVED that Richard Charles Willis appointment as non-executive director, in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of the Company, be and is hereby confirmed.”

1.4 Ordinary resolution number 4
“RESOLVED that Martie Jacoba Janse van Rensburg’s appointment as non-executive director, in terms of the Memorandum 
of Incorporation of the Company, be and is hereby confirmed.” 

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 3 and 4 is that the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company requires that 
any director appointed by the Board of the Company be confirmed by the shareholders at the next AGM. Brief curricula vitae 
of the directors’ appointments to the Board being confirmed appear on pages 78 and 79 of the Integrated Report.
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2.  APPOINTMENT AND RE-APPOINTMENT OF THE MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE OF THE COMPANY
Note: For the avoidance of doubt, all references to the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company is a reference to the audit 
committee as contemplated in the Companies Act. 

2.1 Ordinary resolution number 5
“RESOLVED that Martie Jacoba Janse van Rensburg, being eligible, be and is hereby appointed as a member and Chairperson 
of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, until the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

2.2 Ordinary resolution number 6
“RESOLVED that Snowy Joyce Khoza, being eligible and subject to the passing of ordinary resolution number 1, be and is 
hereby reappointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of 
Directors of the Company, until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

2.3 Ordinary resolution number 7
“RESOLVED that Coenraad Petrus Bester, being eligible and subject to the passing of ordinary resolution number 2, be and is 
hereby reappointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of 
Directors of the Company, until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

2.4 Ordinary resolution number 8
“RESOLVED that Richard Charles Willis, being eligible, be and is hereby appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.”

The reason for ordinary resolution numbers 5 to 8 (inclusive) is that the Company, being a public listed company, must appoint 
an audit committee and the Companies Act requires that the members of such audit committee be appointed,  
or reappointed, as the case may be, at each annual general meeting of a company. A brief curriculum vitae of each of the 
directors up for election to the Audit and Risk Committee appears on pages 78 and 79 of the Integrated Report.

3. Reappointment of auditor
 Ordinary resolution number 9

“RESOLVED that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. be and is hereby reappointed as auditor of the Company for the ensuing year 
on the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company and Peta-Lynn Pope as the designated audit 
partner for the financial year ending 31 March 2020”.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 8 is that the Company, being a public listed company, must have its financial results 
audited and such auditor must be appointed or re-appointed each year at the Annual General Meeting of the Company as 
required by the Companies Act.

4.  Non-binding endorsement of Etion Limited’s remuneration policy and implementation 
report 

 Ordinary resolution number 10
“RESOLVED that the shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy as set 
out from page 88 of the Integrated Report.”

The reason for ordinary resolution number 10 is that King IV and the Listings Requirements recommend that the 
remuneration policy of the Company be endorsed through a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders each year. 

 Ordinary resolution number 11
“RESOLVED that the Company’s implementation report in regard to its remuneration policy, as contained in this Integrated 
Report, be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.” 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 11 is that King IV and the Listings Requirements recommend that every year the 
Company’s remuneration be disclosed in three parts, namely: 
• a background statement; 
• an overview of the remuneration policy; and 
• an implementation report, and that shareholders be requested to pass separate non-binding advisory votes on the policy 

and the implementation report at the AGM. 

Voting on the above two resolutions enables shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policy adopted and 
on its implementation. 
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The Human Capital and Remuneration Committee prepared, and the Board considered and accepted, the remuneration 
policy and implementation report thereon, as set out in this Integrated Report. 

The remuneration policy also records the measures the Board will adopt, in the event that, either the remuneration policy or 
the implementation report, or both, are voted against by 25% or more of the voting rights exercised by shareholders. In such 
event, the Company will, in its announcement of the results of the resolutions of the AGM, provide dissenting shareholders 
with information as to how to engage with the Company in relation to this matter and the timing of such engagement. 

5. General authority to issue shares for cash
 Ordinary resolution number 12

“RESOLVED that the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to allot and issue 
any of the Company’s unissued shares for cash as they in their discretion may deem fit, without restriction, subject to the 
provisions of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements of the JSE 
(Listings Requirements), provided that:
(a)  the equity securities which are the subject of this general authority, be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the 

case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;
(b)  the equity securities must be issued to public shareholders, as defined in the Listings Requirements, and not to related 

parties;
(c)  the equity securities, which are the subject of this general authority:

(1)  may not, in aggregate, exceed 50% of the Company’s listed equity securities as at the date of the Annual General 
Meeting, being the equivalent of 247 205 517 equity securities;

(2)  any equity securities issued in terms of this general authority must be deducted from the initial number of equity 
securities available under this general authority; and

(3)  in the event of a subdivision or consolidation of issued equity securities during the period of this general authority,  
the general authority must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;

(d)  the general authority shall be valid until Etion’s next Annual General Meeting, or for 15 months from the date on which the 
general authority for such ordinary resolution was passed, whichever period is shorter subject to the Listings 
Requirements and any other restrictions set out in this authority the maximum discount at which equity securities may be 
issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price of such equity securities measured over 30 business days prior to the 
date that the price of the issue is agreed between the Company and the party subscribing for the equity securities. The 
JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the applicant’s securities have not traded in such 30-business-day period;

(e)   an announcement giving full details, including the impact on net asset value, net tangible asset value, earnings and 
headline earnings per share will be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within a financial 
year, 5% or more of the number of securities in issue prior to the general issue for cash; and

(f)  this authority includes any options/convertible securities that are convertible into an existing class of equity securities.

For listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash (other than issues by way of rights offers, in consideration for acquisitions 
and/or to share incentive schemes, which schemes have been duly approved by the JSE and by the shareholders of the 
Company), it is necessary for the Board of the Company to obtain prior authority of the shareholders in accordance with the 
Listings Requirements and the MOI of the Company. Accordingly, the reason for ordinary resolution number 12 is to obtain a 
general authority from shareholders to issue shares for cash in compliance with the Listings Requirements. 

In terms of the Listings Requirements the approval of 75% majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or represented by 
proxy at this Annual General Meeting will be required for this authority to become effective.

6. Remuneration of non-executive directors 
 Special resolution number 1

“RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT the remuneration of non-executive directors, as approved at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 27 September 2018 for a period of two years, remain unchanged but that the approval extends to the 
date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.” 

 Reason and effect:
Special resolution number 1 is proposed to comply with the provisions of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act which 
provide that the Company may pay remuneration to its directors for their service as directors, subject to approval by special 
resolution. If special resolution number 1 is passed, the Company will be authorised to pay its directors the remuneration 
specified in the Integrated Report.

In terms of section 62(3) of the Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution. At this general meeting sufficient 
persons must be present to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% of all of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised.
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7. Remuneration for ad hoc Board committees
 Special resolution number 2 

“RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT the remuneration payable to non-executive directors for ad hoc Board 
Committee meetings, as approved at the Annual General Meeting held on 27 September 2018 for a period of two years, 
remain unchanged but that the approval extends to the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or until 
such time before the end of that another special resolution is adopted, whichever one comes first.” 

 Reason and effect:
Special resolution number 2 is proposed to comply with the provisions of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Act which provides that 
the Company may pay remuneration to its directors for their service as directors, subject to approval by special resolution. 
If special resolution number 2 is passed, the Company will be authorised to pay its directors the remuneration specified in the 
Integrated Report.

In terms of section 62(3) of the Act, the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this special resolution to be 
approved is at least 75% of the voting rights present and exercised on the special resolution. At this general meeting sufficient 
persons must be present to exercise, in aggregate, at least 25% of all of the voting rights that are entitled to be exercised.

8. Intercompany financial assistance 
 Special resolution number 3

“RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, 
that the Board of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect 
financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) 
that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related (will herein have 
the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts 
that the Board of the Company may determine, provided that the aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the directors of the Company the authority, until the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company, to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to any company or corporation 
which is related or inter-related to the Company. This means that the Company is authorised to grant loans to its subsidiaries 
and to guarantee the debt of its subsidiaries.

9.  General approval to provide financial assistance for subscription or purchase of ordinary 
shares in related or interrelated entities in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act 

 Special resolution number 4 
“RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, 
that the Board of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or indirect 
financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the 
Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any company or corporation that is related or inter-related  
to the Company (“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning attributed to in section 2 of the Companies Act) and/
or to any financier who provides funding by subscribing for preference shares or other securities in the Company or any 
company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company, on the terms and conditions and for amounts that the 
Board of the Company may determine for the purpose of, or in connection with the subscription of any option, or any shares or 
other securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the 
purchase of any shares or securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant the directors the authority, until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company, to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the 
Company and/or to any financier for the purpose of or in connection with the subscription or purchase of options, shares or 
other securities in the Company or any related or inter-related company or corporation. This means that the Company is 
authorised, inter alia, to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish security for the debt of its subsidiaries 
where any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to a party subscribing for options, shares or securities in the 
Company or its subsidiaries. A typical example of where the Company may rely on this authority is where a subsidiary raised 
funds by way of issuing preference shares and the third-party funder requires the Company to furnish security, by way of a 
guarantee or otherwise, for the obligations of its subsidiaries to the third-party funder arising from the issue of the preference 
shares. The Company has no immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence 
and good corporate governance should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority.
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In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, the directors of the Company confirm 
that the Board will satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably foreseeable financial circumstances of the Company, that 
immediately after providing any financial assistance as contemplated in special resolution numbers 3 and 4 above:
• the assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly valued) (taking into 

consideration the reasonably foreseeable contingent assets and liabilities of the Company);
• the Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business for a period of 12 months;
• the terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to be provided, will be fair and reasonable to the Company; and
• all relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the granting of financial assistance by the Company as contained in 

the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation have been met.

10. General authority to repurchase shares
 Special resolution number 5

“RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT, the Company and the subsidiaries of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised, as a general approval, to repurchase any of the shares issued by the Company, upon such terms and conditions 
and in such amounts as the directors may from time to time determine, but subject to the provisions of sections 46 and 48 of 
the Companies Act, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company and the Listings Requirements, including, inter alia, 
that:
• reported trades are prohibited, the general repurchase of the shares may only be implemented through the order book 

operated by the JSE trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and 
the counterparty;

• this general authority shall only be valid until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, provided that it shall not 
extend beyond 15 months from the date of this resolution, whichever period is shorter;

• an announcement must be published as soon as the Company has acquired shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% 
of the number of shares in issue prior to the acquisition, pursuant to which the aforesaid 3% threshold is reached, containing 
full details thereof, as well as for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of shares acquired thereafter;

• the general authority to repurchase is limited to a maximum of 20% in the aggregate in any one financial year of the 
Company’s issued share capital at the time the authority is granted;

• a resolution has been passed by the Board of Directors approving the purchase, that the Company has satisfied the 
solvency and liquidity test as defined in the Companies Act and that, since the solvency and liquidity test was applied, there 
have been no material changes to the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”);

• the general repurchase is authorised by the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation;
• repurchases must not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value of the shares for 

the five business days immediately preceding the date that the transaction is effected. The JSE will be consulted for a ruling 
if the Company’s securities have not traded in such five business day period;

• the Company may at any point in time only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s behalf; and
• the Company may not effect a repurchase during any prohibited period as defined in terms of the Listings Requirements 

unless there is a repurchase programme in place, which programme has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the 
commencement of the prohibited period and executed by an independent third party, as contemplated in terms of 
paragraph 5.72(h) of the Listings Requirements.”

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 5 is to grant the directors a general authority in terms of its 
Memorandum of Incorporation and the Listings Requirements for the acquisition by the Company or by a subsidiary of the 
Company of shares issued by the Company on the basis reflected in special resolution number 5. The Company has no 
immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good corporate 
governance should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority.

In terms of section 48(2)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, subsidiaries may not hold more than 10%, in aggregate, of the number of 
the issued shares of a Company. For the avoidance of doubt, a pro rata repurchase by the Company from all its shareholders 
will not require shareholder approval, save to the extent as may be required by the Companies Act.
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11. Other business
To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting or raised by shareholders with or without 
advance notice to the Company.

 Information relating to the special resolutions
11.1  The directors of the Company or its subsidiaries will only utilise the general authority to repurchase shares of the Company as 

set out in special resolution number 4 to the extent that the directors, after considering the maximum number of shares to be 
purchased, are of the opinion that the position of the Company and its subsidiaries (Group) would not be compromised as to 
the following:
• The Group’s ability in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the date of this AGM and 

for a period of 12 months after the repurchase.
• The consolidated assets of the Group will at the time of the AGM and at the time of making such determination be in excess 

of the consolidated liabilities of the Group. The assets and liabilities should be recognised and measured in accordance with 
the accounting policies used in the latest audited financial statements of the Group;.

• The ordinary capital and reserves of the Group after the repurchase will remain adequate for the purpose of the business of 
the Company for a period of 12 months after the AGM and after the date of the share repurchase.

• The working capital available to the Group after the repurchase will be sufficient for the Group’s requirements for a period of 
12 months after the date of the notice of the AGM.

General information in respect of major shareholders, material changes and the share capital of the Company is contained in 
the Integrated Report of which this notice forms part, as well as the full set of financial statements, being available on Etion’s 
website at www.etion.co.za or which may be requested and obtained in person, at no charge, at the registered office of Etion 
during office hours.

11.2  The directors, whose names appear on page of 76 and 77 of the Integrated Report of which this notice forms part, collectively 
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and certify that to the best of their 
knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and 
that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this notice of Annual General Meeting contains 
all the information required by the Listings Requirements.

11.3  Special resolution numbers 3 and 5 are renewals of resolutions taken at the previous Annual General Meeting held on  
27 September 2018.

12. Voting
The date on which shareholders must be recorded as such in the Share Register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the 
Company (the Share Register) for purposes of being entitled to receive this notice is 26 August 2019.

The date on which shareholders must be recorded in the Share Register for purposes of being entitled to attend and vote at 
this Annual General Meeting is 20 September 2019, with the last day to trade being 17 September 2019.

Meeting participants will be required to provide proof of identification to the reasonable satisfaction of the Chairman of the 
Annual General Meeting and must accordingly bring a copy of their identity document, passport or driver’s licence to the 
Annual General Meeting. If in doubt as to whether any document will be regarded as satisfactory proof of identification, 
meeting participants should contact the transfer secretaries for guidance.

Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak 
and vote thereat in their stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A form of proxy, which sets out the relevant 
instructions for its completion, is enclosed for use by a certificated shareholder or own-name registered dematerialised 
shareholder who wishes to be represented at the Annual General Meeting. Completion of a form of proxy will not preclude 
such shareholders from attending and voting (in preference to that shareholder’s proxy) at the Annual General Meeting.

The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any) under which it is signed must reach the transfer secretaries of the 
Company at the address given below by not later than 10:00 on 23 September 2019, provided that any form of proxy not 
delivered to the transfer secretary by this time may be handed to the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting at any time 
prior to the commencement of the Annual General Meeting. 

Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the Annual 
General Meeting in person, will need to request their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker to provide 
them with the necessary authority in terms of the custody agreement entered into between such shareholders and the CSDP 
or broker.
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Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who are unable to attend the 
Annual General Meeting and who wish to be represented thereat, must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into between themselves and the CSDP or broker in the manner and 
time stipulated therein.

Shareholders present in person by proxy or by authorised representative shall, on a show of hands, have one vote each and, on 
a poll, will have one vote in respect of each share held.

 Electronic participation by shareholders 
Should any shareholder (or representative or proxy for a shareholder) wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting 
electronically, that shareholder should apply in writing (including details on how the shareholder or representative (including 
proxy) can be contacted) to the transfer secretaries, at the address below, to be received by the transfer secretaries at least 
seven business days prior to the Annual General Meeting (thus to be confirmed) for the transfer secretaries to arrange for the 
shareholder (or representative or proxy) to provide reasonably satisfactory identification to the transfer secretaries for the 
purposes of section 63(1) of the Companies Act and for the transfer secretaries to provide the shareholder (or representative or 
proxy) with details on how to access the Annual General Meeting by means of electronic participation. The Company reserves 
the right not to provide for electronic participation at the Annual General Meeting if it determines that it is not practical to do 
so, or an insufficient number of shareholders (or their representatives or proxies) request to participate in this manner. 

By order of the Board 

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd 
Registration number 2007/008376/07
Company Secretary

Registered office
Southdowns Office Park
Block C Unit 7,
22 Karee Street 
Irene, Pretoria 
0157

PO Box 68528
Highveld 
0169 

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd
Registration number 2004/003647/07
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank 
2196

PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107

Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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ETION LIMITED
(Previously known as Ansys Limited)
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
Registration number: 1987/115237/06
JSE share code: ETO
ISIN: ZAE000257739
(“ETION” or “the Company”)

TO BE COMPLETED BY CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS WITH OWN-NAME REGISTRATION ONLY 

For completion by registered shareholders of Etion Limited unable to attend the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held at 
10:00 on 26 September 2019 at 85 Regency Drive, Route 21 Corporate Park, Irene, Pretoria or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting. 

A shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need to be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, participate in, speak and 
vote or abstain from voting in the place of that shareholder at the Annual General Meeting. 

I/We (please print names in full) 

of (address) 

being the holder/s of shares in 

the Company, do hereby appoint:

1.  or, failing him/her

2.  or, failing him/her

the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as my/our proxy to attend, participate in, speak and, on a poll, vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General 
Meeting of shareholders to be held at 10:00 on 26 September 2019 or at any adjournment or postponement of that meeting, and to vote or abstain from 
voting as follows on the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed at such meeting:

Number of shares

 For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election of Snowy Joyce Khoza who retires by rotation

2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of Coenraad Petrus Bester who retires by rotation

3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Confirmation of the appointment of Richard Charles Willis as non-executive director

4. Ordinary resolution number 4: Confirmation of the appointment of Martie Jacoba Janse van Rensburg as  
non-executive director

5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Appointment of Martie Jacoba Janse van Rensburg as member and  
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee

6. Ordinary resolution number 6: Reappointment of Snowy Joyce Khoza as member of the Audit and Risk Committee

7. Ordinary resolution number 7: Reappointment of Coenraad Petrus Bester as member of the Audit and  
Risk Committee

8 Ordinary resolution number 8: Appointment of Richard Charles Willis as member of the Audit and Risk Committee

9. Ordinary resolution number 9: Reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as external auditor

10. Ordinary resolution number 10: Non-binding endorsement of Etion Limited’s remuneration policy

11. Ordinary resolution number 11: Non-binding endorsement of Etion Limited’s implementation REPORT

12. Ordinary resolution number 12: General authority to issue shares for cash

13. Special resolution number 1: Remuneration of non-executive directors

14. Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of non-executive directors for ad hoc board committee meetings

15. Special resolution number 3: Intercompany financial assistance

16. Special resolution number 4: Financial assistance for the subscription/or acquisition of shares in the Company  
or a related or inter-related company

17. Special resolution number 5: Authority to repurchase shares

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. 

If no indication is given, the proxy may vote or abstain as he/she sees fit. 

Signed at this        day of     2019.

Signature 

Assisted by me, where applicable (name and signature)

Please read the notes overleaf.  

Form of proxy 



(Which include, inter alia, a summary of the rights established by section 58 of the Companies Act, as amended (Companies Act). 

1.   Etion Limited shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in 
the space(s) provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name appears 
first on the form of proxy and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names 
follow.

2.  Etion Limited shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of shares to be 
voted on behalf of that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise 
the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, if he/she is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the resolutions at the meeting, 
or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the meeting as he/she deems fit, in respect of all the shares concerned. 
A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or his/her proxy, but the total of the 
votes cast and in respect whereof abstentions are recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder 
or his/her proxy.

3.  When there are joint registered holders of any shares, any one of such persons may vote at the meeting in respect of such shares 
as if he/she was solely entitled thereto, but, if more than one of such joint holders be present or represented at any meeting, that 
one of the said persons whose name stands first in the register in respect of such shares or his/her proxy, as the case may be, shall 
alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof. Several executors or administrators of a deceased member, in whose name any shares 
stand, shall be deemed joint holders thereof.

4.  It is recommended that the proxy forms should be lodged with the Transfer Secretaries of the Company, Computershare Investor 
Services (Pty) Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 or posted to the Transfer Secretaries at 
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, to be received by them not later than 23 September 2019, at 10:00 provided that any form of 
proxy not delivered to the Transfer Secretaries by this time may be handed to the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting/
General Meeting prior to the commencement of the Annual General Meeting/General Meeting, at any time before the 
appointed proxy exercises any shareholder rights at the Annual General Meeting. The form may also be emailed to  
proxy@computershare.co.za 

5.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies).
6.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 

attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company’s Transfer Secretaries or waived by the Chairman of the 
Annual General Meeting.

7.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General 
Meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such 
shareholder wish to do so.

Summary of rights contained in section 58 of the Companies Act
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:
• a shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint 

any individual (including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at a shareholders’ 
meeting on behalf of such shareholder;

• a proxy may delegate her or his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restrictions set out in 
the instrument appointing such proxy;

• irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the 
extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a 
shareholder;

• any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states 
otherwise;

• if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or 
making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy, and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the 
relevant company;

•  a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder without 
direction, except to the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument appointing the 
proxy, provides otherwise;

• if the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that 
appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of 
incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to:
– the relevant shareholder; or
– the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: (i) directed such company to do so, in writing and (ii) paid any reasonable 

fee charged by such company for doing so.

Notes to the form of proxy
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Contact information
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(Previously known as Ansys Limited)
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